
MONDAY, June 5, 2017 
7:00 PM 

2nd Floor Council Chambers 
1095 Duane Street  Astoria OR 97103 

1. CALL TO ORDER

2. ROLL CALL

3. PRESENTATION

a) Captain Timmons with the United States Coast Guard to Present Letter of Reauthorization to Astoria
as an Official Coast Guard City

b) Recognize Linda Ryan’s Retirement after Thirty-Eight Years of Employment.

4. REPORTS OF COUNCILORS

5. CHANGES TO AGENDA

6. CONSENT

The items on the Consent Calendar are considered routine and will be adopted by one
motion unless a member of the City Council requests to have any item considered separately.
Members of the community may have an item removed if they contact the City Manager by
5:00 p.m. the day of the meeting.

a) City Council Minutes May 1, 2017
b) City Council Work Session Minutes for May 4 and May 10, 2017
c) Commission and Board Minutes

1. Parks Board Meeting, April 26, 2017
2. Library Board Meeting, April 25, 2017
3. Historic Landmarks Commission Meeting, February 21, 2017
4. Historic Landmarks Commission Meeting, March 21, 2017
5. Astoria Planning Commission Meeting, February 28, 2017
6. Astoria Planning Commission Meeting, April 25, 2017

d) Resolution to Transfer Appropriations Within 17th Street Dock Fund Budget for FY 2016-17

7. REGULAR AGENDA ITEMS

All agenda items are open for public comment following deliberation by the City Council.
Rather than asking for public comment after each agenda item, the Mayor asks that audience
members raise their hands if they want to speak to the item and they will be recognized. In
order to respect everyone’s time, comments will be limited to 3 minutes.

a) Public Hearing and Resolution to Adopt the City of Astoria Budget for FYE June 30, 2018 (Finance)
b) Resolution to Elect to Receive State Shared Revenues  (Finance)
c) Resolution to Adopt 2017-2018 Water and Sewer Rates (Finance)
d) Public Hearing and Ordinance to Vacate Portion of Alley Abutting 3115 Harrison and Adjacent Lot

(Public Works)

AGENDA 
 ASTORIA CITY COUNCIL 



e) Resolution Establishing Rules, Regulations, Rate Changes and Conditions for Solid Waste Service
(Public Works)

f) Discussion to Implement a Parks and Recreation Fee (Parks)
g) Resolution to Adopt Ocean View Cemetery and Library Fee Updates (Parks, Library)
h) Adoption of McClure and Shively Park Site Master Plans (Parks)
i) Slide Maintenance Agreement with Friends of McClure Park (Parks)

8. NEW BUSINESS & MISCELLANEOUS, PUBLIC COMMENTS (NON-AGENDA)

9. EXECUTIVE SESSION
a) ORS 192.660(2)(h) – Legal Counsel

THE MEETINGS ARE ACCESSIBLE TO THE DISABLED.  AN INTERPRETER FOR THE 
HEARING IMPAIRED MAY BE REQUESTED UNDER THE TERMS OF ORS 192.630  

BY CONTACTING THE CITY MANAGER'S OFFICE AT 503-325-5824. 



 
 

CITY OF ASTORIA 
   Founded 1811 ● Incorporated 1856 

 
 
 
 
June 1, 2017 
 
 
M E M O R A N D U M 
 
 
TO: MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL 

FROM:  BRETT ESTES, CITY MANAGER 
 
SUBJECT: ASTORIA CITY COUNCIL MEETING OF JUNE 5, 2017 
 
 
PRESENTATION 
 
Item 3(a): Captain Timmons with the United States Coast Guard to Present 

Letter of Reauthorization of Astoria as an Official Coast Guard City 
 

Item 3(b): Recognize Linda Ryan’s Retirement After 38 Years of Employment 
with the City of Astoria 

 
CONSENT CALENDAR 
 
Item 7(a):  City Council Minutes May 1, 2017 
 

The minutes of the City Council meetings of May 1, 2017 are enclosed 
for review. Unless there are any corrections, it is recommended that 
Council approve these minutes. 

 
Item 7(b):  City Council Work Session Minutes May 4 & 10, 2017 

 
The minutes of the City Council Work Sessions on May 4 and 10, 2017 
are enclosed for review. Unless there are any corrections, it is 
recommended that Council approve these minutes. 

 
Item 7(c): Commissions and Boards Minutes 

 
The minutes of the following Commissions and Boards meetings are 
enclosed for review. Unless there are any questions or comments 
regarding the contents of these minutes, they are presented for 
information only. 
 

1. Parks Board Meeting, April 26, 2017 
2. Library Board Meeting, April 25, 2017 
3. Historic Landmarks Commission Meeting, February 21, 2017 



x:\data1\julie\manager\agenda\city council\6-5-2017\agenda memo 6-5-2017.doc  

4. Historic Landmarks Commission Meeting, March 21, 2017 
5. Astoria Planning Commission Meeting, February 28, 2017 
6.  Astoria Planning Commission Meeting, April 25, 2017  

 
Item 7(d): Resolution: Transfer Appropriations Within 17th Street Dock Fund 

Budget for 2016-2017 
 
ORS 294.463 provides guidance for the transfer of appropriations within a 
fund, when authorized by resolution of the governing body.  

 
At the time the budget was originally appropriated, the Personal Services 
included appropriations for Public Works department to conduct routine 
repair and maintenance for the 17th Street Dock.  In anticipation of future 
dredging survey requirements preliminary work began which was 
unanticipated when the budget was prepared.  This additional Interfund 
wage transfer from Public Works requires a transfer in the amount of 
$4,500 from available appropriations in Materials and Services of the 17th 
Street Dock Fund. 

 
This transfer will increase the Personnel Services line from $12,500 to 
$17,000 for additional Interfund wages and will reduce appropriations for 
Materials and Services $4,500 resulting in appropriations of $14,000 
which is sufficient for remaining anticipated expenses. 

 
It is recommended that council adopt the attached resolution transferring 
appropriations within the 17th Street Dock Fund. 
 

REGULAR CALENDAR 
 
Item 8(a): Public Hearing and Resolution to Adopt the City of Astoria Budget 

for FYE June 30, 2018 (Finance) 
 

  Oregon Local Budget Law requires the City Council hold a public hearing 
on the budget, as recommended for approval by the Budget Committee. 
Notice of this hearing, scheduled for June 5, 2017, was published in the 
Daily Astorian on Wednesday, May 19, 2017. The budget for the City of 
Astoria, as discussed and recommended for approval by the Budget 
Committee, is ready for the City Council to consider for adoption. The 
changes from the proposed budget the Budget Committee considered was 
the Ending Fund Balance of the Capital Improvement Fund was reduced 
by $40,000 and the Capital Outlay – Machinery and Equipment increased 
to recognize estimated cost associated with recycling containers for to be 
placed in City parks. The attached resolution will adopt resources and 
appropriations and authorize the collection of taxes at a rate of $8.1738 
per thousand for FYE June 30, 2018. It is recommended that the City 
Council hold a public hearing on the FYE June 30, 2018 budget as 
approved by the Budget Committee. After the hearing, it is recommended 
that the Council consider the resolution to adopt this budget. 
 



x:\data1\julie\manager\agenda\city council\6-5-2017\agenda memo 6-5-2017.doc  

Item 8(b): Resolution to Elect to Receive State Shared Revenues (Finance) 
 

Oregon Revised Statute 221.770 requires the City to adopt a resolution to 
declare its intent to receive state revenue for each new fiscal year. State 
shared revenues include the state gas tax, alcohol tax, cigarette tax and 
state shared revenues. The attached resolution expresses the City’s 
intention to receive state shared revenues for FY 2017-2018. It is 
recommended that the City Council consider this resolution for adoption. 

 
Item 8(c): Resolution to Adopt 2017-2018 Water and Sewer Rates  

 
The proposed Public Works Fund budget, as approved by the Astoria 
Budget Committee, provides for increase of 6% in the CSO surcharge 
rate.  There will be no other increases for water and sewer services.   

  
The surcharge services the debt on Department of Environmental Quality 
(DEQ) Clean Water State Revolving Fund and Business Oregon loans that 
are used to finance Combined Sewer Overflow (CSO) projects. 

 
Two resolutions, Water and Sewer (see attached), have been prepared to 
implement Fiscal Year 2017-2018 Water & Sewer Rules and Regulations.  

 
It is recommend the Astoria City Council adopt the proposed Water and 
Sewer Resolutions for the fiscal year 2017-18. 

 
Item 8(d): Public Hearing and Ordinance to Vacate Portion of Alley Abutting 

3115 Harrison (Public Works) 
 
 The City received a request from Larry Haskell, for the vacation of a 20 X 

100 foot portion of the alley that abuts his property at 3115 Harrison (Tax 
Lot 8099CA10000) and also his undeveloped lot (Tax Lot 8099CA10100) 
on the south side of the alley, Lots 6 & 7, Block 63, Port of Upper Astoria.  
Mr. Haskell would like to obtain the square footage necessary to 
potentially construct a duplex on the property.  Upon review of the site, it 
was determined that there are no public utilities on or adjacent to the 
proposed vacation area and that the City would have no future need for 
this particular portion of the alleyway  

 
 Per City Code 2.290 Authority to Make an Assessment staff calculated the 

real land value surrounding the portion of alleyway as $6.87 per square 
foot. As has been the past practice of the City, staff is proposing an 
assessment of $1,374.90 (10%) of the real land value ($13,748.99) be 
considered for the vacation of 2000 square feet of the alleyway.   

 
 At their April 3, 2017 Council meeting, Council adopted a resolution to 

schedule a public hearing regarding the vacation request at the April 17, 
2017 meeting.  The City Attorney subsequently had some questions 
regarding the vacation; therefore the hearing was postponed and re-
advertised for the June 5, 2017.  The City Attorney’s questions have since 



x:\data1\julie\manager\agenda\city council\6-5-2017\agenda memo 6-5-2017.doc 

been resolved.  Attached are comments and concerns expressed by 
property owners within the vicinity of the alleyway.   

It is recommended that the Astoria City Council conduct the public hearing 
and consider the first reading of the ordinance to vacate a portion of the 
alley that abuts 3115 Harrison. 

Item 8(e): Resolution Establishing Rules, Regulations, Rate Changes and 
Conditions for Solid Waste Service 

The City’s franchise agreement with Recology requires them to render 
financial statements and rate review of the Solid Waste Collection 
Franchise no later than April 30 each year.  The annual rate review was 
received April 3, 2017 and presented to Council at the May 15, 2017.  It 
was noted an increase of 2% will be required for medical waste collection 
which is a pass through from the vendor contracted for this service and a 
reduction of 2.74% for the debris box and compactor ton rate for garbage 
collection was noted by Recology.   

In addition Council considered four options for A) garbage collection in 
City parks, B) garbage and recycling collection in City parks, C) curbside 
glass collection and D) curbside yard debris collection (vegetable peels, 
rinds and trimming but no food waste).  Council requested rate schedules 
for the new fiscal year to include Option A only.  The rate schedules 
incorporating the medical waste collection, debris box and compactor ton 
rate changes and addition of garbage collection in City parks are 
contained in Exhibit A of the attached resolution to be effective July 1, 
2017. 

Item 8(f): Discussion to Implement a Parks and Recreation Fee (Parks) 

At a prior City Council meeting it was proposed by Councilor Price to have 
a $3 per water meter Parks and Recreation Fee for residential customers 
only. Mayor LaMear has added this item to the agenda for council 
discussion. Mayor LaMear has requested that staff work to develop the 
necessary ordinances/resolutions needed to implement this fee so that 
Council could potentially take action.  

After review it has been determined that an amendment to the City Code 
as well as a resolution would need to be prepared. Staff is preparing draft 
language and will present this draft language for review at the City Council 
meeting. If Council wishes to take action on this it will be brought back at a 
subsequent meeting.  

It is recommended that City Council provide direction on implementing a 
$3 Parks and Recreation Fee.  



x:\data1\julie\manager\agenda\city council\6-5-2017\agenda memo 6-5-2017.doc 

Item 8(g): Resolution to Adopt Ocean View Cemetery and Library Fee Updates 
(Parks, Library) 

To assist with providing excellent service to our community Library staff 
has reviewed fee charges and submit the changes annotated in Schedule 
E.  The decision to adjust fees directly correlates to service provision with 
an overarching goal of removing barriers for all citizens of Astoria.   

The Parks and Recreation Department charges fees to assist in the cost 
recovery of the Department operations. The Department’s budgeted cost 
recovery for the 2016-2017 fiscal year is 55%. Resulting in a cost recovery 
rate of nearly double the national average and top-quartile standing for 
revenue generation per capita. The Parks and Recreation Department is 
able to achieve this high cost recovery and revenue generation due to fee 
increases, business practices, and innovations.  

Currently the Astoria Aquatic Center and Astoria Recreation Center sells 
youth, senior, adult and family monthly passes for Aquatic Center services 
and group fitness classes at the Recreation Center. To attract new 
customers, increase revenue and support organizations and business 
increase employee’s health, wellness and productivity. Parks and 
Recreation Department staff propose implementing a bulk buy discount of 
20% to the monthly Aquatic Center, Recreation Center, and Land and 
Water Passes when sold in a quantity of 20 or more per transaction.  

On April 6, 2015 the Astoria City Council amended the fee schedule to 
approve a 40% increase effective April 7, 2015 – June 30, 2015 and then 
an additional 10% increase for Fiscal Year 2015-2016 for the services 
provided at Ocean View Cemetery. Fees were increased for fiscal year 
2016-2017 which took place in July 2016 and were approved by council in 
December. The Parks and Recreation Department also proposed 
increasing the fees by 10% every fiscal year beginning 2016 to fiscal year 
ending 2022.  

Fees for services at Ocean View Cemetery have fallen behind the 
national, state, and local standards. As a result the costs of services at 
Ocean View Cemetery (at the current level of service) are greater than the 
fees charged for those services. This fee increase began closing the gap 
between fees charged for services vs the cost of services. It is proposed 
that fees be increased by an additional 10% effective July 5, 2017. The fee 
adjustments are shown in the following attachments.  

It is recommended that City Council approve the resolution amending the 
fee schedule for Library and Parks Services. 

Item 8(h): Adoption of McClure and Shively Park Site Master Plans (Parks) 

The Parks and Recreation Department’s Comprehensive Master Plan 
recommends completing site-specific park plans at several locations. The 



x:\data1\julie\manager\agenda\city council\6-5-2017\agenda memo 6-5-2017.doc  

process would allow the Department to plan for specific improvements and 
new development, as well as long term maintenance at each site.  
 
During the community input process for the Parks and Recreation 
Comprehensive Master Plan, the public was asked to prioritize sites in 
need of master plans. Shively Park ranked as the community’s highest 
priority and a need to balance the park’s rich history with a low 
maintenance and accessible design that meets the community’s needs. 
McClure Park ranked as the second highest priority for site master plans 
with the community. The Friends of McClure Park have been active in 
fundraising to make improvements and add amenities. A master plan for 
McClure Park would ensure that new development is supported by the 
community and Parks and Recreation Department, and that it can be 
cared for and adequately maintained into the future. 

Attached to the memo are the completed draft master plans. On May 24th 
the City of Astoria’s Parks, Recreation and Advisory Board reviewed the 
McClure Park and Shively Park Site-Specific Master Plan reports, 
including summary, community engagement, site analysis, master plan, 
implementation and appendix. Following this review the Advisory Board 
unanimously provided their recommendation for adoption and provided 
feedback, stating that the City needs to resolve the Parks and Recreation 
budgetary problems and create a sustainable department before pursuing 
other Parks and Recreation Department agendas.  

 
It is recommended that the City Council accept the Shively Park and 
McClure Park Site-specific Park Master Plans. 

 
Item 8(i): Slide Maintenance Agreement with Friends of McClure Park (Parks) 

 
The City has been working with the Friends of McClure Park (FOMP) 
since 2013 to coordinate maintenance and site improvements in McClure 
Park located at 701 Franklin Avenue.  FOMP has provided a tremendous 
service to the City by assisting in the Park’s care and upkeep.  FOMP 
members regularly pick up litter, mow grass, hold events to promote 
awareness about the park, and have sponsored and supported 
improvement projects; such as leveling and re-seeding the central grass 
area. FOMP has fundraised over $30,000 to construct an embankment 
slide on the hillside along the south side of the Park.  After construction 
and installation is finished, the City will inspect the project for compliance 
with all City requirements and approve the project as complete.  FOMP 
will then dedicate ownership of the equipment to the City and provide a 
document accepting the improvements by the City will be presented to the 
City Council for approval at that time.  The proposed Memorandum of 
Agreement states that FOMP will support the City to maintain the 
equipment and associated improvements for the life of the slide.   
 
The attached Memorandum of Agreement has been reviewed with the 
Friends of McClure Park and is acceptable to them.  City Attorney 



x:\data1\julie\manager\agenda\city council\6-5-2017\agenda memo 6-5-2017.doc  

Henningsgaard has reviewed the Agreement as to form. The Parks and 
Recreation Advisory Board reviewed an earlier iteration of the agreement 
and included more specificity as to maintenance to be provided by FOMP, 
however following Parks Board review the Friends of McClure Park board 
requested revisions to its current language.  It is recommended that the 
Astoria City Council consider construction of the improvements within 
McClure Park by the Friends of McClure Park and subsequently consider 
authorizing the Mayor to sign the attached Memorandum of Agreement.  



  

Page 1 of 9  City Council Journal of Proceedings 
  May 1, 2017 
 

CITY OF ASTORIA      CITY COUNCIL JOURNAL OF PROCEEDINGS  
City Council Chambers 
May 1, 2017 
 
A regular meeting of the Astoria Common Council was held at the above place at the hour of 7:00 pm. 
 
Councilors Present: Nemlowill, Jones, Price, Brownson, and Mayor LaMear. 
 
Councilors Excused: None 
 
Staff Present: City Manager Estes, Planner Ferber, Parks and Recreation Director Cosby, Finance Director 
Brooks, Fire Chief Ames, Police Chief Johnston,  Public Works Director Cook, and City Attorney Henningsgaard. 
The meeting is recorded and will be transcribed by ABC Transcription Services, Inc.  
 
PROCLAMATIONS 
 

Item 3(a): National Historic Preservation Month 
 

Each year the National Trust for Historic Preservation dedicates May as Historic Preservation Month. For 
many years as part of this celebration, the City has recognized the importance of historic preservation in 
Astoria through the Dr. Edward Harvey Historic Preservation Award.  
 
This year, the Community Development Department is collaborating with local partners to host a number of 
activities throughout the month. A list of events to share with the public will be available at the Council meeting. 
Events for 2017 include a 5th grade student exhibit in the Flag Room, and a dedication ceremony in honor of 
Art DeMuro at Mill Pond.  
 
The City of Astoria would like to recognize one of our exemplary preservation partners. The Historic 
Preservation Program at Clatsop Community College, staff and students, has participated in local preservation 
projects throughout the City. Representatives from the college will be present to receive the Proclamation.  
 
Over the past year, students in the Historic Preservation program have actively engaged in preservation 
projects including: 
• Re-siding two sides of Alderbrook Hall 
• Re-creating the monitor windows of the mausoleum which are now ready for installation 
• Participating in tombstone cleaning and re-mounting at Oceanview Cemetery. 
• Researching and documenting the architecture and history of the Tourist #2 Ferry and Masonic Temple 
• In conjunction with a recently awarded grant, students will also be doing hands on restoration of the 

Doughboy statue in Uniontown 
 
Mayor LaMear read the proclamation declaring May 2017 as National Historic Preservation Month. She 
presented Planner Nancy Ferber and students and staff participating in the Historic Preservation Program at 
Clatsop Community College with the proclamation. 
 
Councilor Price said some of the students completed a survey of the Astoria Ferry last semester. The ferry is on 
the National Register of Historic Places. City Manager Estes added that the students have been re-siding 
Alderbrook Hall with cedar shakes over the last year. They will also be working with the Parks Department to 
restore the Doughboy Monument in Uniontown. 
 
Mayor LaMear said she was impressed with the work done at the cemetery. Astoria is a historic city and the 
community appreciates all of the students’ efforts. 
 
Lucian Swerdloff noted that the students would be finishing the installation of the stained glass windows in the 
mausoleum at the cemetery over the weekend.  
 
REPORTS OF COUNCILORS 

 



  

Page 2 of 9  City Council Journal of Proceedings 
  May 1, 2017 
 

Item 4(a): Councilor Jones reported that the Coast Guard has officially selected Astoria as the 
home for two new fast response cutters. Each ship will have a crew of a couple dozen people and another half 
dozen support people. He was in the Coast Guard a few years ago when he, former Mayor Van Dusen, and 
Senator Johnson unveiled the Coast Guard City monument. The relationship between the City, community, and 
Coast Guard led to the Coast Guard’s acceptance of Astoria’s package. 
 
 Item 4(b): Councilor Price had no reports. 
 
 Item 4(c): Councilor Brownson had no reports. 
 
 Item 4(d): Councilor Nemlowill had no reports. 
 
 Item 4(e): Mayor LaMear reported that the Budget Committee met for six hours last week and she 
hoped the City was being careful with the citizens’ money. The City is doing the best it can with what it has. She 
was excited about the new Coast Guard cutters coming to Astoria. She reported that she attends the Columbia 
River Estuary Task Force (CREST) meetings to keep abreast of their projects on both sides of the bridge. 
CREST is working to promote salmon restoration in the area. She announced that Nicole Williams resigned from 
the Hospital Authority Board to work for the hospital and Jim Knight has been appointed to take her place. 
 
CHANGES TO AGENDA 
There were no changes. 
 
CONSENT CALENDAR 
 
The following items were presented on the Consent Calendar: 

6(a) City Council Work Session Minutes of 3/23/2017 
6(b) City Council Minutes of 4/3/2017 
6(c) Accept Grant for Doughboy Restoration (Parks) 
6(d) Mutual Aid Agreement Provision of Emergency Services (Public Works) 
6(e) Agreements to Use City of Astoria Official Logo (City Manager) 
6(f) Resolution – Parks Scholarships Update to Include Families Outside City Limits (Parks) 

 
Councilor Brownson requested Item 6(d) be removed for further discussion. 
 
City Council Action: Motion made by Councilor Price, seconded by Councilor Nemlowill, to approve Items 6(a), 
(b), (c), (e), and (f) of the Consent Calendar. Motion carried unanimously. Ayes: Councilors Price, Jones, 
Nemlowill, Brownson, and Mayor LaMear; Nays: None. 
 

Item 6(d): Mutual Aid Agreement Provision of Emergency Services (Public Works) 
 
Councilor Brownson said one of City Councils’ goals is to improve emergency preparedness in the city and he 
wanted to publicly acknowledge this provision. He asked Staff to provide an overview of Staff’s efforts. 
 
City Manager Estes said this agreement would allow Astoria to participate in a group called the Oregon 
Water/Wastewater Agency Response Network (ORWARN), which is a group of utilities that provides assistance 
and mutual aid during emergencies. If Astoria needed assistance after a natural disaster, the City could contact 
other participating entities to take care of water and wastewater issues. 
 
Director Cook added this agreement covers machinery, vehicles, heavy equipment, and personnel. 
 
City Council Action: Motion made by Councilor Brownson, seconded by Councilor Price, to approve Item 6(d) 
of the Consent Calendar. Motion carried unanimously. Ayes: Councilors Price, Jones, Nemlowill, Brownson, and 
Mayor LaMear; Nays: None. 
 
REGULAR AGENDA ITEMS 
 

Item 7(a):  Resolution in Support of Port of Astoria Bond Measure 



  

Page 3 of 9  City Council Journal of Proceedings 
  May 1, 2017 
 

 
The Port of Astoria has placed a bond measure on the May 16, 2017 Special District Ballot. If approved, 
$1,960,000 in bond money would be used in conjunction with the already received Connect Oregon grant, 
which anticipated a $950,000 hangar project for Life Flight Network. The bond money will be used to construct 
infrastructure improvements to approximately 10 acres of property located within the Port's airport industrial 
area. Extending infrastructure improvements to the south end of the airport will provide additional expansion 
opportunities for the airport, which is not currently served by sewer and water services.  
 
The Connect Oregon Grant provides funds to build the hangar while the bond monies project would extend the 
utilities and Flightline Drive to Airport Lane for Life Flight’s hangar, adding an additional entrance to the airport. 
It is recommended that Council consider the resolution in support of the Life Flight Network Bond Measure. 

 
Willis Van Dusen, 2314 Irving, Astoria, said he hoped City Council would pass the resolution in support of the 
bond measure. His daughter, a surgeon, and his daughter-in-law, an obstetrician and gynecologist, have 
convinced him that Life Flight is very important. Life Flight helicopters and airplanes are intensive care units that 
can provide medical care not available in an ambulance. When his mother-in-law had a heart attack in 
December, both Highways 26 and 30 were closed and the weather prevented a flight in a helicopter. Life Flight 
flew a fixed wing airplane to Astoria to take his mother-in-law to Oregon Health and Science University (OHSU) 
and she is still alive today. When his brother-in-law had a brain aneurism, the Life Flight helicopter took him to 
Providence Hospital. This is a grass roots effort. He and Senator Johnson each gave $5,000 to this cause and 
no more financial contributions have been made. 
 
Councilor Price said she had not started following this project until about a week ago when she learned the bond 
might come before Council. The only negative comment she has heard about the bond is that it would be for a 
private company. However, the package is good and she supported the bond measure after seeing what the 
Port plans to do with the money and how the air facilities would be expanded to include Life Flight. Her mother 
had an incident that required her to be transported to a burn center and without Life Flight, she would have died. 
The hospital continues to improve its services, but there are still many services that cannot be provided in 
Astoria.  
 
Councilor Jones shared a story about a child who needed Life Flight after being injured in a farm accident. He 
appreciated that this effort would partner with the Connect Oregon grant, which will allow Life Flight to use 
money they would not otherwise be able to use. This bond measure will provide the opportunity for future growth 
at the airport by providing infrastructure that could be used by other commercial entities. The Port Authority will 
have a better chance at attracting commercial growth to the airport. 
 
Mr. Van Dusen noted that Councilor Jones led the relief efforts in 2005 and he was one of the best helicopter 
pilots in the world. He added that the hangar would be operating and staffed 24 hours a day, seven days a week. 
He did not know until he became involved in this campaign that Life Flight was a non-profit organization owned 
by OHSU, Providence Hospital, Emmanuel Hospital, and a hospital in Idaho, all of which are non-profit hospitals. 
It is illegal for Life Flight or any of the hospitals to donate money to this campaign. Low funds are a result of the 
limitations on non-profits, not low support. Non-profits are not allowed to build infrastructure at airports, so he 
hoped Council would support the bond measure. 
 
Mayor LaMear said the utilities to the Life Flight hangar and six to eight acres of adjacent land will be available 
for future development. This will open up opportunities for economic development. The new infrastructure will 
also eliminate the danger of intermingling airplanes and helicopters at the airport. 
 
Mr. Van Dusen added that if the infrastructure had been in place as part of a former project, this bond measure 
would not be necessary. 
 
Councilor Brownson added it would be good to get the airport out of the trailer. Many times, Clatsop County 
questions why it should support the Port because the Port is in Astoria. This will be a great example of how the 
Port will benefit all of Clatsop County. The payoff will be in three years and it is not too much to ask for a bond. 
 
City Council Action: Motion made by Councilor Jones, seconded by Councilor Nemlowill, to approve the 
resolution in support of the Life Flight Network Bond Measure. Motion carried unanimously. Ayes: Councilors 
Price, Jones, Nemlowill, Brownson, and Mayor LaMear; Nays: None. 



  

Page 4 of 9  City Council Journal of Proceedings 
  May 1, 2017 
 

 
Item 7(b): Public Hearing and Ordinance – Modify City Code Providing for Abandoned Vehicles 

and Seizure of Vehicles (Police)  
 

In preparation of renewing the contract that Astoria Police Department uses to tow abandoned and impounded 
vehicles, the City Attorney determined that the City Code required changes to support the contract. The 
Department has worked with the City Attorney to bring the code into compliance with Oregon Law and the 
Department’s current practices. The changes are detailed in a track changes document that accompanies the 
ordinance. It is recommended that Council hold a public hearing and consider holding a first reading of the 
ordinances amending City Code 6.400 and 6.530. 

 
Mayor LaMear opened the public hearing at 7:25 pm and called for public testimony.  
 
Fred Bohne, 824 35th Street, Astoria, said a Chevy Malibu station wagon is parked in his yard and it does not 
run. The car has been parked there for at least six months and his tenant claims he has been working to fix it. 
He asked if he could have the car towed. 
 
Chief Johnston said the Oregon Revised Statutes sets specific guidelines for towing from private property. The 
Astoria Police Department is not involved with situations like Mr. Bohnes’, but he believed the local towing 
companies could provide assistance. 
 
Mayor LaMear confirmed there was no more public testimony and closed the public hearing at 7:26 pm. 
 
City Council Action: Motion made by Councilor Price, seconded by Councilor Brownson, to conduct first 
reading of the ordinance amending City Codes 6.400 and 6.530.Motion carried unanimously. Ayes: Councilors 
Price, Jones, Nemlowill, Brownson, and Mayor LaMear; Nays: None. 
 
Director Brooks conducted the first reading of the ordinance. 
 

Item 7(c):  Public Hearing and Resolution – Supplemental Budget (Finance) 
 

ORS 294.473(1) (b) provides a procedure for a municipality to hold a public meeting for the adoption of a 
supplemental budget to adjust for changes, which are unforeseen, a pressing necessity and which could not 
reasonably be foreseen when preparing the original budget. The process requires advertisement of a 
supplemental budget not less than five days before a Council meeting. There will be a public hearing for 
consideration of the supplemental budget. Council may consider a resolution to adopt the supplemental 
budgets as advertised.  
 
Staff is recommending a supplemental budget to increase resources recognizing $88,000 of unanticipated 
Motel Tax revenues and a grant reimbursement for Shoreline Erosion work in the amount of $36,000 for a total 
increase of $124,000. Capital Outlay appropriations will increase $245,500, contingency will decrease $ 
100,000, and ending fund balance will decrease $21,500 for a net increase to appropriations of $124,000. It is 
recommended that Council hold a public hearing and consider the attached resolution for the Promote Astoria 
Fund supplemental budget. 

 
City Manager Estes stated a revised copy of the proposed resolution had been provided at the dais. After the 
agenda packet was published, Staff identified the need for additional language stating it was necessary to 
respond to an emergency situation to protect and repair the trestles and support the Riverwalk and trolley tracks. 
 
Director Brooks explained the language referring to the emergency allows the City to use any Unappropriated 
Ending Fund Balance money. 
 
Mayor LaMear opened the public hearing at 7:31 pm and called for public testimony. Seeing none, she closed 
the public hearing at 7:32 pm. 
 
Councilor Price confirmed that Staff anticipated the hotel tax revenue would exceed budgeted estimates by 
$88,000. She asked if the entire amount would be used. Director Brooks said $88,000 was the best estimate she 
had at that time, but as an accountant, she always keeps her estimates conservative. 



  

Page 5 of 9  City Council Journal of Proceedings 
  May 1, 2017 
 

 
City Council Action: Motion made by Councilor Nemlowill, seconded by Councilor Brownson to adopt the 
resolution approving the Promote Astoria Fund supplemental budget. Motion carried unanimously. Ayes: 
Councilors Price, Jones, Nemlowill, Brownson, and Mayor LaMear; Nays: None. 
 

Item 7(d):  Resolution to Update City Service Fees – Update Parks Aquatic Center Fee Schedule 
Specific to Youth Swim Teams (Parks) 

 
The Astoria Aquatic Center partners with the Astoria School District and the North Coast Swim Club (NCSC) to 
provide space within the lap pool for youth swim team members to practice. The Astoria Aquatic Center’s 
current lane rental fee is $25 per lane per hour, but neither the Astoria School District nor the North Coast 
Swim Club can afford the $25 per lane per hour rate due to the length of their practices and amount of space 
they require. Following, City Council’s direction that private youth swim teams, such as NCSC, should pay less 
than school district or government operated youth swim teams, numerous negotiations, and a 120-day 
moratorium on lap lane rentals for youth Swim Teams, City staff propose that in addition to our current $25 per 
lane per hour rental fee, an additional reduced rental option specifically for youth swim teams to practice be 
added to the fee resolution at a reduced rate of $1 per lane per hour for non-profit swim teams and $2.50 per 
lane per hour for school district or government funded swim teams with a $1.50 per lane per hour increase 
next year (which would take consideration of a new fee resolution). This rate would be contingent upon the 
rented space being used by youth swim teams for the purpose of practicing for a minimum of 100 hours per 
year and that all participants would be required to purchase a monthly or daily pass. Evaluating the North 
Coast Swim Clubs current practice schedule the additional cost of $1 per lane per hour for practices is 
expected increase the clubs cost $1,692 per year. Evaluating the Astoria School Districts current practice 
schedule the additional cost of $2.50 per lane per hour is expected to increase the teams cost $630.00 per 
year. It is recommended that City Council adopt the updated fee resolution to establish a reduced hourly lane 
rental fee for youth swim teams. 

 
City Manager Estes stated that Staff preferred both private and government funded swim teams pay the same 
rates. With two tiers of fees, Aquatic Center Staff must track which swim team each student is on. If Council 
decides to charge the same fees to both types of teams, Staff recommends $1 per lane per hour with a $1.50 
increase next year. The resolution proposed is per Council direction, but changes could still be made. 
 
Mayor LaMear called for public comments. 
 
Patrick Wingand, President, North Coast Swim Club (NCSC), 92015 Hagen Drive, Astoria, stated he appreciated 
Staff meeting with him and others to discuss this tough situation. The club agrees it should be paying something 
and has offered the City a guaranteed revenue stream of $16,000 in the form of facility usage fees and facility 
rental fees. He did not believe this should be overlooked. The club knows that the biggest deterrent to growing 
the swim club is cost. People constantly tell him they would join the club if they could afford to. The swim club 
self-funds two scholarships and they are proud of their relationship with corporate sponsors. The club requires 
each swimmer to raise a minimum of $350 in revenue per year, but they budget $500 per year per swimmer. He 
asked Council to consider what NCSC should pay in addition to what they are already paying. When the facility 
usage fee increased a few years ago, the NCSC paid it. When the cost to rent the facility more than tripled for 
their swim meets, the event went from being a fundraiser to a break-even situation. The swim club wants to 
bring people to Astoria and one of their meets always coincides with the Sunday Market. He believed the club 
pays its fair share and as the club grows, revenue to the City grows. NCSC is looking for a partnership with the 
City. The club cannot pay any more than it is already paying. At some point, the club would price out the small 
proportion of Clatsop County residents that can afford to swim. Then, the club would no longer exist and revenue 
to the City would cease. The club has a good thing going and he hoped the City would continue to partner with 
them. 
 
Brooke O’Conner, 81848 Fill Road, Astoria, said she understood the City wanted to raise fees, but did not know 
the circumstances of the Aquatic Center’s finances. She believed that if swimmers could not afford to pay the 
fees, they would not be able to stay physically fit. Swimming helps people stay in shape and get healthy, so she 
believed the rates should be low. 
 
Glen Admire, 372209 Christians Lane, Astoria, said he was the parent of a swimmer and vice president, meet 
director, and corporate sponsor for NCSC. As meet director, he is the first contact for the club. They host two 



  

Page 6 of 9  City Council Journal of Proceedings 
  May 1, 2017 
 

meets a year that bring over 100 families to Astoria for the weekend. Additionally, the club will host the 
championship meet in 2018, which will bring more than 200 families to town for the weekend. The weekends are 
in March and November. The club pays more than $2,000 to rent the Aquatic Center for each weekend, when 
hundreds of families from outside of Astoria spend money at local hotels, restaurants, and other businesses. In 
addition to each swimmer purchasing a monthly swim pass, the kids are also raising hundreds of dollars to go 
towards pool rentals. He has had a family pass for eight years so that his daughter can swim. The sport is year-
round and expensive. It is disheartening that Council is considering a shortsighted policy that could shut down 
the NCSC. The kids give back to Astoria much more than they take. He believed NCSC should be heralded as 
an exemplary youth organization and the Parks and Recreation Department should be encouraging swim lesson 
participants to join the club. This would further increase pool revenues in the future. He is at the pool from 5:00 
pm to 7:00 pm Monday through Friday. There have been claims that the club hogs the lanes and he has seen 
lap swimmers leave. However, he believed the policy allowing cannon balls in lap lanes was more disruptive 
than kids swimming a mile a night with as many as eight swimmers sharing a lane, so this policy should be 
adjusted to facilitate the swimmers that choose not to share a lane. There are nights when the NCSC swimmers 
are the only people in the Aquatic Center. This seems to be a marketing issue and he hoped the Parks 
Department was looking into other options to increase revenue, other than putting the swim club at risk. 
 
Mayor LaMear confirmed there were no more comments from the public and closed the public hearing at 7:46 
pm. 
 
Councilor Nemlowill believed Ms. O’Conner made a good point and asked why the City was considering the fee. 
She also wanted to know what the financial implications would be to the Aquatic Center. City Manager Estes 
explained that in the next fiscal year, the Parks Department would need an additional $100,000 to maintain the 
same levels of service. To save money, Staff has already cancelled the annual Easter Egg Hunt, Monster Bash, 
and Movies in the Park. However, more savings will be needed to balance the budget. To address the greater 
needs of the Parks Department, the City needs to make the department’s budget sustainable for the future, 
which will require a savings of $400,000. City Council will discuss these budget issues in a work session later in 
the week. Staff is looking for direction from Council to prioritize the most important services. In 2008, the Aquatic 
Center was proposed for closure and this is being considered again as a way to keep the Parks Department 
within their budget if no additional monies are found. Staff does not want to recommend this. However, the 
department needs additional funding resources through a variety of measures. 
 
Councilor Nemlowill stated the issue with lane rental fees came up several months ago because NCSC had not 
been paying any fees. Director Cosby added that the issue was brought up by Staff at the start of the high 
school’s swim season. The City received several complaints that pool users were not paying the same amounts 
and certain groups were being given guaranteed lane space. Swimmers believed this was not fair. The fee 
resolution required a $25 lane rental fee, per lane per hour. Staff knew it was unreasonable to ask the swim 
teams to pay $25 per lane per hour, so Staff is now proposing a reduced rate. 
 
Councilor Nemlowill asked why it was necessary for swim clubs with Aquatic Center passes to rent a lane. She 
wanted to know why the teams could not simply use the lanes like any other lap swimmer with a pool pass. 
Director Cosby said the swim teams have organized practices with a coach, so they need a designated space. 
With lap swimmers in their lane, the teams could not practice. People rent a park for a wedding for the same 
reason, to keep people from ending up in the middle of the event. 
 
Councilor Nemlowill said reducing the rate from $25 per hour to $1 per hour might sound like a lot for the NCSC, 
but it does not seem like it would add up to much for the Parks Department. Director Cosby said assuming the 
NCSC maintained their current schedule, the reduced rate would bring $1,692 per year into the Parks 
Department. The high school swim team would bring in less. This might not sound like a lot at first, but 
combining the revenue with program cuts would make a difference. She believed every dollar counts. 
 
Councilor Jones thanked Mr. Wingard for what he does for the community. He congratulated the swimmers for 
participating in the best youth sport. He was a swim parent for 15 years and his kids were members of six 
different swim clubs in six states and with six different fee structures. He understood what a challenge it could be 
to stay in the sport. He believed $1 per hour per lane was a reasonable compromise. He also understood that 
the fee would create a hardship and require additional fundraisers. However, the Parks Department cannot 
afford to charge no fee at all. He agreed with Staff that the fees should be the same for both swim teams. 
 



  

Page 7 of 9  City Council Journal of Proceedings 
  May 1, 2017 
 

Councilor Price asked how a fee of $1 per lane per hour fee charged to both teams would impact the budget. 
Director Cosby said she did not have the numbers for the high school with her, but she estimated the rate would 
bring in about $2,000 per year more. She confirmed that both teams are currently paying for monthly passes, but 
not lane rental fees. 
 
City Manager Estes reminded that the memorandum states the $1 rate would cost the NCSC about $1,692 per 
year. The $2.50 rate proposed for the school district would total $630 per year because they have fewer 
practices and do not swim year-round. 
 
Councilor Price asked if Council still wanted to have a two-tiered fee system. 
 
Mayor LaMear said she wanted a one-tiered system. She hated to impose anything on the swim teams because 
the community contributes financially to the teams. However, the City is facing a very tough budget and no one 
wants to make cuts to the Parks Department. Council does not want to damage the swim programs and she 
offered to assist with fundraising. It is only prudent to charge a lane fee and to charge the same fee to both 
teams. 
 
Councilor Nemlowill said she was upset that Council had to consider charging a lane rental fee for youth 
swimmers because she did not believe it was fair. However, she was afraid the City would have to close the 
pool. These fees will be a drop in the bucket and may not even help the situation. Considering the current 
finances of the Parks Department and Staff’s recommendations, she did not see any alternative solutions. She 
hoped things would get better and would continue to support NCSC. The City is currently considering cutting 
youth sports because the City cannot afford to administer the programs. Astoria has an excellent organization 
coordinating a fabulous and well-used youth sport in the area, keeping kids healthy and fit. This City does not 
have to pay for any of it, so it does not seem fair that the swim teams have to pay to use the City’s facilities. 
However, everyone needs to step up to help keep the Aquatic Center open. 
 
Councilor Brownson said this situation is very difficult. He did not believe the City should bother with charging 
just a dollar because $1,000 a year is not very much money. The City is looking for hundreds of thousands of 
dollars. This situation contains many contradictions. He believed the City should look for more money so it can 
support what it has. He believed the fees are punitive and he was opposed to charging the swim teams at this 
time. He would be happy to revisit this issue a year from now after the City has considered all of the alternatives 
for helping the Parks Department. NCSC is a year-round athletic program that wants to grow. He believed the 
team’s growth would make up the revenue for the City. 
 
Councilor Price stated that the Parks Department needs more revenue regardless of what happens and this fee 
resolution is just one contribution to the solution. She believed charging $1.50 per lane per hour for all students, 
instead of $1, would be a good start. This is a hard pill to swallow and does not do much for the budget. 
However, larger financial contributions are necessary and should be expected by those who use the Aquatic 
Center and other Park facilities. Otherwise, facilities will shut down. She did not want a two-tiered system and 
$1.50 would split the difference between the two rates proposed by Staff. 
 
Mayor LaMear clarified that Staff recommended $1 for the first year and $2.50 next year. City Manager Estes 
added that Staff had proposed $1 for the first year in consideration of the NCSC’s fundraising challenges. In 
November, City Council directed Staff to consider a two-tiered system, but Staff would prefer one tier. 
 
Mayor LaMear recommended this discussion be tabled until after the work session on Thursday. City Manager 
Estes reminded that Council could also extend the moratorium on lane rental fees charged to youth swim teams. 
 
Councilor Jones did not believe anything would change on Thursday. Mayor LaMear said the Thursday meeting 
would include a discussion about ways to raise money. The estimates presented for each proposed revenue 
stream would give Council an idea of how much money the City has to work with. 
 
City Council Action: Motion made by Councilor Price, seconded by Councilor Jones to adopt the resolution to 
update the City’s fee schedule and establish a reduced lane rental fee of $1 per lane for hour for all youth swim 
teams.  
 



  

Page 8 of 9  City Council Journal of Proceedings 
  May 1, 2017 
 

Councilor Nemlowill said she supported the motion, but believed it should be reconsidered after a year. This is 
not an optimal situation, but updating the fee resolution seems necessary right now. 
 
Councilor Price considered Councilor Nemlowill’s suggestion to be a friendly amendment to her motion. 
 
City Council Action: Motion made by Councilor Price, seconded by Councilor Jones to adopt the resolution to 
update the City’s fee schedule, establish a reduced lane rental fee of $1 per lane for hour for all youth swim 
teams, and reconsider the fee schedule within one year. [1:06:58] Motion carried 4 to 1. Ayes: Councilors Price, 
Jones, Nemlowill, and Mayor LaMear; Nays: Councilor Brownson. 
 

Item 7(e): Award Trestle Repair Contract (Public Works) 
 

The 2017 Trolley Trestle Repair Project will address critical repairs on the Columbia Avenue and 1st to 2nd 
Street trestles. The project has been structured to minimize disruption to the Astoria Riverfront Trolley’s 
operational schedule.  
 
In March, Council authorized bid advertisement of this project. Seven competitive bids were received on April 
20, 2017. Bergerson Construction provided the lowest responsible bid for the project. The Engineer’s Estimate 
prepared for the project is $300,000.  
 
OBEC Consulting Engineers will be providing construction support services for the project. The contract 
amendment for these services will be presented for consideration at a future Council meeting. Should Council 
approve the associated budget amendment on this City Council agenda, funds are available for this project in 
the Promote Astoria Fund.  
 
It is recommended that City Council authorize staff to award a construction contract to Bergerson Construction 
for the 2017 Trolley Trestle Repair Project in the amount of $174,500. 

 
City Council Action: Motion made by Councilor Jones, seconded by Councilor Brownson, to authorize staff to 
award a construction contract to Bergerson Construction for the 2017 Trolley Trestle Repair Project in the 
amount of $174,500. Motion carried unanimously. Ayes: Councilors Price, Jones, Nemlowill, Brownson, and 
Mayor LaMear; Nays: None. 
 

Item 7(f): Liquor License Application – Newport Pacific Corporation Doing Business as Mo’s 
Restaurant located at 101 15th Street, Astoria, for a New Outlet for Full On-Premises 
Sales License (Finance) 

 
A Liquor License Application has been filed by Bob Scull for Newport Pacific Corp doing business as Mo’s 
Restaurant, located at 101 15th Street, for a New Outlet for a Full-On-Premises Sales License. The appropriate 
departments have reviewed the application and it is recommended that Council consider approval of the 
application. 

 
Councilor Nemlowill declared a direct conflict of interest as Mo’s is a client of her husband’s business, Cervecia 
Gratis, doing business as Fort George Brewery. She recused herself from participating. 
 
City Council Action: Motion made by Councilor Price, seconded by Councilor Jones, to approve the liquor 
license application by Newport Pacific Corporation for a New Outlet located at 101 15th Street, Astoria, for Full 
On-Premises sales. Motion carried 4 to 0 to 1. Ayes: Councilors Price, Jones, Brownson, and Mayor LaMear; 
Nays: None.  
 
NEW BUSINESS & MISCELLANEOUS, PUBLIC COMMENTS (NON-AGENDA) 
Fred Bone, 824 35th Street, Astoria, explained a historic designation plaque is a burden to his friends, who just 
inherited a historic home, and it will continue to burden future property owners. 
 
City Manager Estes explained that property owners are given the opportunity to object to the historic designation 
only during the designation process. State law prohibits any repeal of the designation after the designation has 
been approved and established. This ensures that buyers are aware they are purchasing a historic property. 



  

Page 9 of 9  City Council Journal of Proceedings 
  May 1, 2017 
 

 
Mr. Bone asked where Director Cronin was. 
 
City Manager Estes said Director Cronin and Director Pearson were both sick. 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 8:13 pm to convene the Astoria Development 
Commission meeting.  
 
ATTEST:       APPROVED: 
 
 
 
              
Finance Director City Manager  



  

Page 1 of 4  City Council Journal of Proceedings 
  May 4, 2017 
 

CITY OF ASTORIA      CITY COUNCIL JOURNAL OF PROCEEDINGS  
City Council Chambers 
May 4, 2017 
 
A work session of the Astoria Common Council was held at the above place at the hour of 6:00 pm. 
 
Councilors Present: Nemlowill, Brownson, Price, Jones (via telephone), and Mayor LaMear. 
 
Councilors Excused: None 
 
Staff Present: City Manager Estes, Parks and Recreation Director Cosby, Finance Director Brooks, and Library 
Director Pearson. The meeting is recorded and will be transcribed by ABC Transcription Services, Inc.  
 
PARKS DEPARTMENT BUDGET DISCUSSION 
 
City Manager Estes briefly reviewed discussions from the last two work sessions to discuss the Parks 
Department’s current and future finances. Staff gave a brief follow up presentation that focused on the long-term 
needs of the department. Agenda packets for this work session included an opinion statement from the City 
Attorney on the use of Promote Astoria Funds at the Aquatic Center and estimated revenues from a flat utility 
fee on water and sewer rates. During the presentation, Staff answered Council’s questions about utility bills, how 
Sunset Empire operates, and Attorney Henningsgaard’s interpretation of the laws regulating the use of Promote 
Astoria Funds. 
 
Council and Staff discussed the use of Promote Astoria Funds at the Aquatic Center in detail. State laws 
regulate how the money can be spent. The Aquatic Center is used by and being marketed to tourists, so there is 
justification for allowing the Aquatic Center to use Promote Astoria Funds.  
 
Councilor Price believed the Parks Department has done an exceptional job over the last two years maintaining 
facilities with limited budgets and staff. She wanted the public to know that the department’s deficiencies were 
due to City Council’s decision not to provide the department with the resources to meet its needs over the years. 
She made complimentary comments about the department’s effectiveness and said Parks deserved Council’s 
support. She proposed a three percent increase to the hotel tax and a small utility fee of one or two percent on 
residential properties, with an exemption for people on the utility assistance program. She also proposed splitting 
revenue from the marijuana tax as follows: 25 percent to the Parks Department, 65 percent to the Police 
Department, and 10 percent to the General Fund. She supported cutting adult sports, selling Birch Field, 
delaying the Scandinavian park for a year, eliminating drop-in daycare, marketing the Recreation Center with the 
goal of combining it with the Aquatic Center, partnering with the Armory or one of the private fitness centers, and 
making the Parks Department part of the Advance Astoria Program. 
 
Councilor Brownson wanted to focus on a combination of income streams. He agreed that tourists come to 
Astoria for recreation. Both tourists and the local community should help support the Parks Department. 
Deferred maintenance increases expenses and Council needs to find ways to help Staff fix the situation and 
maintain what the City has. 
 
Councilor Nemlowill said the complexity of the issues make this situation difficult to resolve. She would not 
support a utility fee because she has received a lot of negative feedback about it. Astorians already support the 
department by paying some of the highest property taxes in the state. She supported an increase to transient 
room taxes because it relates directly to parks, unlike the rest of the funding options. She also supported a 
cemetery taxing district because Astoria is subsidizing a cemetery in Warrenton that is utilized by the entire 
county. 
 
Councilor Jones said he was in favor of increasing the lodging tax because visitors impose significant costs on 
City facilities and infrastructure. He wanted to figure out how much of an increase the tourism industry could 
handle, but believed a three percent increase would be reasonable. He was not in favor of a utility fee increase 
because utilities are a necessity, but would consider a food and beverage tax and a cemetery taxing district. 
 



  

Page 2 of 4  City Council Journal of Proceedings 
  May 4, 2017 
 

Mayor LaMear wanted to find a way to support the Parks Department without making any cuts. She did not 
support a utility fee, but did support a three percent lodging tax increase. The next step should be a cemetery 
taxing district or a park district. She asked how soon the City could start receiving revenue from the lodging tax. 
 
Staff believed it could take about three months, but the lodging tax would provide returns quicker than any of the 
other options. Council would need to discuss a lodging tax increase with several tourism industry entities. The 
Parks Department, Finance Department, and City Manager’s Office would be responsible for implementing the 
tax increase. Staff noted that first quarter revenues from the new marijuana tax would be coming in to the City in 
May or June. 
 
Council and Staff discussed a cemetery taxing district, which would require voter approval. Voters would support 
a higher level of maintenance at the cemetery, but Councilors questioned whether they would support a taxing 
district. 
 
Councilor Price believed the City should ease into a parks district over three to five years while educating the 
public about the value of the Parks Department. She suggested a one or two percent utility fee. Mayor LaMear 
disagreed, saying the utility fees were already so high because of the CSO surcharge. Councilor Nemlowill 
agreed. City Manager Estes noted that such fees were common in other municipalities. 
 
Council and Staff discussed transient room taxes charged in other area jurisdictions. Councilor Nemlowill wished 
Council would consider increasing the tax more than three percent and hoped the City continued to implement 
Parks Master Plan. Consolidating facilities is necessary and she wanted the feasibility study to be completed 
sooner than the timeline suggests. Staff explained how their recommended “life raft” scenario helped to 
implement the Plan. At the next City Council meeting, Council would consider changes to the City’s contract with 
Recology so that Staff could spend more time on parks and facilities. 
 
Councilor Price suggested moving $75,000 or $100,000 from the Ending Fund Balance of the General Fund to 
Parks. Staff asked if Council wanted to start deficit spending at the beginning of the year. Councilor Price 
disagreed that increasing the subsidy would be considered deficit spending. Director Brooks explained how 
moving $75,000 or $100,000 out of the General Fund’s Ending Fund Balance would negatively impact the City’s 
cash flow and how the City calculated its Ending Fund Balance needs. 
 
Staff confirmed for Mayor LaMear the process for establishing a taxing district. Mayor LaMear supported the 
district because the taxes would be spread out beyond the city limits, which would lower the expense for each 
individual. She asked if a taxing district would affect compression. Staff said a tax rate would have to be 
determined in order to estimate revenue and this would affect compression. 
 
Councilor Price understood there was consensus among Council to support a three percent increase in hotel 
taxes, use of the marijuana tax, and the life raft scenario. A year after implementing those three revenue 
streams, Staff should begin working on a special taxing district. 
 
City Manager Estes said Staff would need to figure out the best way to apply tax increase revenues throughout 
the Parks Department.  
 
Councilor Nemlowill said changing the contract with Recology would be imposing a utility fee on citizens. 
However, this fee directly relates to parks and the cost is low. Contamination in recycling containers can be a 
problem, so she no longer supports the use of Capital Improvement Funds to purchase the containers without 
an extensive educational campaign. She believed a Department of Environmental Quality (DEQ) Materials 
Management Grant would help fund a pilot project or education and outreach. When the contract with Recology 
is revised, Council needs to consider an agreement to reduce emissions. 
 
Staff said this would be discussed in more detail at the next Council meeting. Recology has told Staff that they 
have educational programs for each level of service they provide. Before Council makes a decision, they need to 
consider what revenue would be provided to the Parks Department and how much of the Promote Astoria Funds 
could be connected to the Riverwalk. The Lower Columbia Tourism Committee (LCTC) needs to be included in 
these discussions. Council seemed to have come to a consensus, so Staff can move forward on this work. 
 



  

Page 3 of 4  City Council Journal of Proceedings 
  May 4, 2017 
 

Councilor Price was opposed to cutting the community events because they generate good will, which she 
believed would be necessary as fees and taxes are increased. Staff asked Councilor Price to reconsider this 
after Staff has determined how much revenue could be brought into the City. Staff confirmed the movie events 
held by the Parks Foundation, which charged a fee, would continue; however, movie rights, equipment, and staff 
time are too expensive for the Parks Department to provide the free movie events. 
 
Mayor LaMear invited the public to comment. 
 
Fred Bohne, 824 35th Street, Astoria, believed Council was on the right track. He did not want to pay more in 
sewage or property taxes because his taxes in Astoria are over $4,000 a year. In Louisiana, he is only paying 
$500 a year in taxes for property of a similar value. Astoria, the county, and the State have an economic 
opportunity in the container business. The river will not be dredged anytime in the near the future, so the 
container business will have to be moved to the coast. Lois Island, east of Tongue Point, would prevent any 
visual, noise, or smoke exposure to the city. He asked City Council to support State legislation to relocate the 
container business to the coast and mandate that all dredge spoils be deposited on Lois Island for a future 
container facility. He confirmed he had shared this idea with Bill Wyatt and all Port Commission candidates. 
Three are opposed to the idea, but Steven Fulton, Dick Helberg, and Pat O’Grady support the idea. Work on this 
needs to begin now so Astoria’s children will have an economic backbone to support parks and other programs. 
This effort will create hundreds of high-paying jobs. 
 
Councilor Price said Mr. Wyatt gave a presentation about the Port of Portland at the Barbey Center a few 
months ago. He indicated the Columbia River would never be dredged any deeper than it is now and the 
shipping companies are not interested in using ships that would fit in the river. 
 
Mr. Bohne disagreed, noting ten years ago, the Port of Los Angeles shipped 20 unit trains a day and each train 
had 200 containers on it. The Port was getting $800,000 a day just to unload containers. He hoped City Council 
would support legislation for a container port near Tongue Point because this would help pay for parks. 
 
Mayor LaMear confirmed there were no other public comments. 
 
Staff confirmed they would work as quickly and diligently as possible on Council’s directives, but asked Council 
to keep Staff’s limited capacity in mind. Staff anticipated some turnaround in the Parks Department over the next 
few months because Parks Staff has been burned out for several years now. Having Recology pick up trash in 
parks would help with capacity, but not for the employees who need it most. Recreation and Aquatic Center 
staffs are stretched the greatest. 
 
Councilor Price suggested the General Fund’s Ending Fund Balance be transferred to the Parks Department to 
cover one quarter, and then replace the funds once the transient room taxes start coming in.  
  
Staff did not recommend hiring full-time staff without enough funds to pay for it. Full-time supervisory staff is part 
of the life raft scenario, but in the mean time, Staff tries to keep employees happy while diligently moving forward 
on these issues. Turnover has increased over the last year, and Director Cosby was worried turnover would 
continue to increase. 
 
Councilor Price suggested the General Fund’s Ending Fund Balance be used to hire temporary help. 
  
Councilor Brownson said cutting programs has not been discussed. Staff is working way too hard and he wanted 
to know what cuts would relieve Staff even if the cuts were made for just one year. Director Cosby confirmed 
that Staff was moving forward with all of the cuts they have listed in the agenda packet. This will add capacity to 
the recreation division. She was most worried about the Aquatic Center and administration. 
 
Mayor LaMear suggested the City sell Birch Field. City Manager Estes said the Parks and Finance Departments 
do not have the capacity to take on this work, so a contractor would be hired to manage the sale. However, 
moving forward with program cuts and Council’s direction will make a positive impact over the next few months. 
Rosemary Johnson will be working on the Birch Field project and other property sales over the summer. 
Temporary help is not needed right now, so he suggested Staff work efficiently on the work discussed.  
 



  

Page 4 of 4  City Council Journal of Proceedings 
  May 4, 2017 
 

Councilor Brownson asked if Promote Astoria Funds could be used until hotel taxes started coming in. City 
Manager Estes explained those funds would only assist the maintenance division, which is not as overloaded as 
the recreation, aquatics, and administration divisions. Staff explained how Promote Astoria Funds had to be 
spent and why maintenance staff could not work in other divisions. 
 
City Manager Estes believed the discussion had led to positive progress. Councilors expressed their support for 
the Parks Department and apologized that the City failed to act sooner. City Manager Estes stated that the 
support of Council and the community is well appreciated by Parks Staff and he was happy about the results of 
this meeting. Director Cosby added that moving forward with Council’s direction will give Staff hope that issues 
will be resolved. 
 
Mayor LaMear thanked Parks Board members for attending. 
 
Staff confirmed they were prepared to move forward. 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 7:35 pm.  
 
ATTEST:       APPROVED: 
 
 
 
              
Finance Director City Manager  



  

Page 1 of 5  City Council Journal of Proceedings 
  May 10, 2017 
 

CITY OF ASTORIA      CITY COUNCIL JOURNAL OF PROCEEDINGS  
City Council Chambers 
May 10, 2017 
 
A work session of the Astoria Common Council was held at the above place at the hour of 9:00 am. 
 
Councilors Present: Nemlowill, Jones, Price, Brownson and Mayor LaMear. 
 
Councilors Excused: None 
 
Staff Present: City Manager Estes, Planner Ferber, Finance Director Brooks, and Police Chief Johnston. The 
meeting is recorded and will be transcribed by ABC Transcription Services, Inc.  
 
HOMESTAY LODGING 

Home Stay Lodging (often referred to as “AirBnB”) provides an opportunity for local residents to rent out 1-2 
bedrooms in their owner occupied homes for less than 30 days. This form of transient lodging differs from 
long-term rental units, and requires regulations and enforcement to maintain a strong housing stock for 
permanent residents. Some residents state they operate home stay lodging units as they enjoy hosting guests, 
while others state they do it to generate additional income. Other residents have raised concerns about this 
type of use in residential zoning districts. There has been discussion at City Council meetings regarding this 
topic. The work session allows for a conversation so staff will be able to establish a policy that fits the needs of 
our community. 
 
Staff's goal at this work session is to seek direction from Council on if they feel home stay lodging is 
appropriate for Astoria, and if so, how to best regulate and enforce home stay lodging with our given resources 
and staffing. Home Stay Lodging is currently regulated by the City's Development Code, City Code, and the 
Comprehensive Plan. 
 
If Council wishes to prohibit home stay lodging in the future, staff will need to develop necessary code 
amendments to implement regulations. However, if Council wishes to continue to allow home stay lodging it is 
staff's recommendation that a permit process be developed. 
 
Staff will be prepared to discuss potential permit process options if desired. The agenda packet included the 
following documentation to provide some background on home stay lodging issues: 
 
• Existing homestay lodging unit data including zoning, business license, transient lodging tax data, and 

required steps for code enforcement 
• FAQ flyer on current requirements for establishing home stay lodging 
• Sample packet from the Finance Department for setting up Transient Lodging Taxes 
• Current codes relevant to Home Stay Lodging  

• Definitions from Development Code 
• Taxing information from City Code 
• Neighborhood/Area visions from the Comprehensive Plan 

• Article from American Planning Association on regulating home stay lodging 
 
Staff reviewed data on existing home stay lodgings and explained how the Development and City Codes are 
applied. Staff also described compliance and finance issues with home stay lodgings. Staff displayed their 
recommendations on the screen and noted what the next steps would be, depending on whether Council chose 
to allow, restrict, or prohibit home stay lodgings. 
 
Council and Staff discussed the benefits and issues pertaining to the collection of transient room taxes. Reports 
from companies like AirBnB could be helpful to Staff, but the reports would not provide Staff with enough details 
to enforce compliance. Staff recommended the City require a permit for home stay lodgings.  
 
Councilors Brownson and Price debated the pros and cons of allowing home stay lodgings in Astoria. Councilor 
Brownson supported limiting home stay lodgings to units with shared facilities that could not be rented out long 
term.  



  

Page 2 of 5  City Council Journal of Proceedings 
  May 10, 2017 
 

 
Mayor LaMear shared why she believed home stays should be allowed with restrictions. She understood 
enforcement was an issue, but believed home stays could provide revenue for the City. Council and Staff briefly 
discussed technology the City could use to help enforce code compliance. 
 
Councilors discussed the impact of home stay lodgings on the availability of affordable housing for permanent 
residents. 
• Councilor Jones believed home stay lodging restrictions should be designed to promote affordable housing 

for permanent residents by making permits and penalties expensive. If the fees were high enough, the City 
could afford to hire a part-time code compliance officer. Council should also consider which restrictions 
would help maintain the character of Astoria’s neighborhoods. 

• Councilor Price believed most of the existing home stay lodgings were illegal and kept long-term rental units 
off the housing market. She was concerned that property owners who were not in compliance would convert 
their home stay lodgings into accessory dwelling units (ADUs). She believed the hoteliers and bed and 
breakfast owners in Astoria gave the same level of personal service that a home stay lodging owner would 
give and therefore, it would not be necessary to stay in a home stay lodging to experience the culture of the 
city. 
• City Manager Estes noted that short-term rentals in commercial zones were classified as hotels. 

• Councilor Nemlowill believed the housing shortage was critical to the character of the community and the 
economy. She wanted Astoria to be a place where workers could live.  
• Mayor LaMear disagreed that local workers would want their permanent residence to be a bedroom in a 

home with a shared kitchen and bath. Councilor Brownson added that homeowners would not be 
interested in renting a bedroom on a long-term basis. Home stay lodgings provide homeowners with 
additional income, which makes Astoria more affordable for residents and allows some to maintain or 
renovate their homes.  

• Councilor Nemlowill was concerned that home stay lodgings would increase to become large-scale 
commercial developments in neighborhoods. 

 
Councilor Price believed the City’s discussions over the last 10 months about regulating home stay lodgings has 
led to a rush to establish home stay lodgings before laws are changed. Therefore, she suggested a six-month 
moratorium, during which time the City can take public input and continue discussions about how to regulate 
home stay lodgings without gaining additional units. City Manager Estes said the City Attorney would need to 
advise Council on how to implement a development moratorium. Councilor Brownson agreed the City should 
establish a moratorium. 
 
Staff presented their recommended solutions for allowing and regulating home stay lodgings. 
 
Council and Staff discussed a variety of scenarios that make it very difficult for Staff to verify that a home stay 
lodging is owner-occupied and to enforce the owner-occupied requirement. They shared ideas for preventing 
and resolving enforcement issues. Staff has limited capacity and the City has limited funds. However, a 
retroactive permitting process and collecting transient room taxes could lead to increased income for the City 
and most of the home stay lodgings would be operating legally. 
 
Mayor LaMear called for comments from the public. 
 
Loretta Maxwell, Grandview Bed and Breakfast, 1574 Grand Avenue, Astoria, said her guests want to see what 
Astoria is really like. She employs local people who share information about where to go in town. She was 
concerned about people who work in Astoria and do not have a place to live. Three of the rooms in her bed and 
breakfast are being rented on a monthly basis to people who want to live in Astoria. There are times when she 
must rent these rooms to bed and breakfast guests. People are concerned about sharing their house with long-
term renters, but one of her month-to-month renters has been a quiet tenant who always pays rent on the day it 
is due. This person would be an asset. Another one of her month-to-month renters will be moving into a room in 
a two-bedroom house with access to the kitchen and laundry. The bed and breakfast must maintain a certain 
health standard, so she is unable to allow guests to cook in her kitchen. She does not allow guests to use her 
laundry facilities either. Long-term renting would be advantageous for people who have an extra bedroom. 
Working people who cannot find a place to live are good people who are trying to make a good life and they 
would be an asset to people who want to make some extra money. Her monthly renters must be interviewed and 



  

Page 3 of 5  City Council Journal of Proceedings 
  May 10, 2017 
 

sign a contract. She does not allow people who cannot follow the rules. She appreciated that Council was 
considering these issues and she hoped the community would come to a solution that is good for everyone. 
 
Jeffrey Oja, 1134 Grand Avenue, Astoria, said the City should be cautious when considering how much tax 
revenue would be needed to cover enforcement. Existing laws are not being enforced and parking is already an 
issue. He was opposed to grandfathering-in all of the home stay lodgings that have been operating outside of the 
restrictions because doing so would exacerbate the parking issues. Enforcing the rules will eliminate a 
tremendous number of historic homes that do not have off-street parking. He believed the City would have a 
difficult time raising enough tax revenue to pay someone to regulate the home stay lodgings. The City should 
find another way to fund a permanent code enforcement employee. As a police officer in Seaside, he has seen 
many ordinances put in place that Staff cannot afford to enforce. The community becomes upset with City 
Council and the Police Department when the laws do no good. 
 
Diana Bartolotta, 3658 Franklin Avenue, Astoria, thanked City Council for discussing this topic and Staff for 
publishing a comprehensive agenda packet. She has had a shared house in Astoria for about five years. She 
has stopped advertising on AirBnB because she is waiting to see what the rules will be. She asked what City 
Council was trying to achieve. She understood Staff wanted a process that could be enforced and Council 
wanted more long-term permanent housing. She asked if Council had assumed that restricting or prohibiting 
home stay lodgings would lead to more housing. She has an empty room in her house that will remain empty 
because it is disruptive to have a person in her house all the time. She also wants the room to be available for 
her tenants’ overnight guests. From time to time, she would like to rent the room for extra money. In the months 
that she has been following this discussion, she has heard a lot of talk about the idea that advertising a home 
stay lodging as having a full kitchen means the lodging is an entire house. This is incorrect. Her house is listed 
as having a full kitchen because her guests get to use her kitchen. Listing a property as having a full kitchen 
does not mean the kitchen is exclusively for guest use. She recommended the City look for AirBnB’s “full 
house/apartment” designation. She confirmed with Staff that vacation home rentals were only allowed in 
commercial zones. Some people are opposed to home stay lodgings because they believe the lodgings benefit 
tourists instead of local residents and because there are no safety regulations. Long-term rentals are not 
inspected or required to have smoke detectors, so she questioned why people were concerned about the 
tourists’ safety instead of local residents’ safety. She did not believe that property owners would want the City 
inspecting their homes for short or long-term rental situations. 
 
Chris Haefker, 687 12th Street, Astoria, stated that part of this discussion began because Astoria does not have 
enough workforce housing. A baker working at a brewery for $14 an hour cannot afford a downtown apartment 
listed at $800 a month. He believed $800 is a reasonable amount for a decent apartment in downtown. He also 
believed that a room in a house would have to be rented for about $600 a month because of home values in the 
area, financing costs at current market rates, insurance, and maintenance costs. Utilities would be an additional 
$100 a month. Housing costs of $700 a month are just below the cap of what is considered affordable housing 
for someone with a $15 per hour job. It might not be a great strategy for Council to think that taking away from 
home stay lodgings would allow people to rent rooms in downtown homes that have just recently been 
purchased. If the City wants to look at affordable housing, especially for low-income people, Council should 
consider ways to funnel more money into the voucher system and partnering with Clatsop Community Housing. 
His vacancies are not being filled at a high rate, so he was hesitant to believe there was a housing crisis for 
people who were not low-income. Apartments for $800 and $900 are not renting and he believed the City should 
focus on helping the working class making less than $14 an hour. The City needs to figure out how to give the 
working class a higher income instead of passing the buck on to landlords and people dealing with the historic 
inventory on a tight budget.  
 
Misha Cameron-Lattek, 1820 SE 3rd Street, Astoria, thanked Council and Staff for taking this issue seriously 
because home stay lodgings are a serious issue in the community and beyond. Home stay lodgings are part of a 
bigger income and equality situation in the town. Some people can afford to buy houses in Astoria because they 
are so cheap while others have trouble finding housing. Affordable housing affects him indirectly because he 
employs people who try to make a living in this town. He thanked Mr. Haefker for doing the research to figure out 
what someone making $15 an hour could afford. He was impressed with Staff’s presentation and wished the 
presentation were a bigger part of the debate. He believed the conversation got off track quickly and many 
questions would have been answered in the presentation. Council can debate whether a spare bedroom is 
affordable housing to someone who might want to live in the room, given that the owner wants to rent it out. 
However, that will not address the overall housing shortage. Astoria must create more affordable housing by 



  

Page 4 of 5  City Council Journal of Proceedings 
  May 10, 2017 
 

adding houses or making the empty houses available. A good way to address homelessness would be to 
provide non-permanent dwellings on empty lots. This will not solve the problem, but it is a small solution for a 
serious problem. He was disappointed to hear that City Council decided to exclude tiny houses from the ADU 
ordinance. Tiny homes are a fast, cheap way to address a temporary problem. 
 
Mayor LaMear confirmed there were no more public comments and asked Councilor to indicate whether they 
wanted to allow or prohibit home stay lodgings. Councilors’ preferences were as follows: 
• Councilor Price - impose a moratorium and allow home stay lodgings with restrictions. 
• Councilor Jones – explore Staff’s recommended options for allowing and regulating home stay lodgings. 
• Councilor Brownson – impose a moratorium and discuss Staff’s recommendations. 
• Councilor Nemlowill – prohibit home stay lodgings  
• Mayor LaMear – allow home stay lodgings and bring the currently illegal home stay lodgings into compliance 
 
Council and Staff discussed the possibility of imposing a temporary moratorium on home stay lodgings. Mayor 
LaMear believed new ordinances were necessary despite enforcement issues and limited Staff capacity. Staff 
confirmed that code amendments take between six months and one year to complete. City Manager Estes 
suggested Council consider the City Attorney’s comments on a moratorium at the first meeting in June.  
 
Councilor Jones preferred the moratorium be lifted after a specified action had been completed, as opposed to 
setting an end date. Councilor Price believed a six-month moratorium would be appropriate. Councilor Brownson 
said if a moratorium was not possible, Council should consider a mechanism for bringing currently illegal home 
stay lodgings into compliance with any new rules that are implemented. 
 
Councilor Nemlowill believed current lack of compliance was evidence that Staff does not have the capacity to 
enforce codes. She believed home stay lodgings took away from housing stock. Restrictions and permitting 
processes might help with enforcement a little bit, but she believed non-compliance would still be a problem. She 
asked why Director Cronin was not present to discuss such a big issue that will require the City to dig deep into 
the Development Code. City Manager Estes explained that Director Cronin was not working on this project 
because he has a home stay lodging unit in his home, so it would be a conflict of interest for Director Cronin to 
participate.  
 
Councilor Nemlowill agreed that illegal home stay lodgings should be in compliance, but was concerned about 
the capacity of the Community Development Department to enforce current laws without Director Cronin. 
Councilor Brownson understood why Director Cronin recused himself, but did not believe it was necessary. He 
believed Director Cronin should work as directed by City Council and City Manager Estes. City Manager Estes 
explained that the Oregon Ethics Commission and City Attorney Henningsgaard determined it was necessary for 
Director Cronin to refrain from working on home stay lodging issues because he had a personal financial 
interest. 
 
Mayor LaMear asked if third party inspectors would be certified. Staff confirmed they would recommend home 
inspectors that provide services to homebuyers. Staff would also have to develop inspection criteria. Other cities 
require inspectors to look at egresses, windows, and bedroom sizes. The property owners would be required to 
hire an inspector. 
 
Mayor LaMear supported a moratorium so that Staff can work on code amendments and a permitting process 
without having more home stays added to the city. She believed the majority of Council wanted to allow home 
stay lodgings with restrictions that can be enforced. 
 
City Manager Estes reminded that Staff needed to find out if a moratorium would be possible. Staff can discuss 
the possibility of a moratorium at City Council’s first meeting in June. Councilors Jones and Nemlowill believed a 
moratorium would incentivize non-compliance. Staff confirmed that the Community Development Department’s 
workload was already full. Additional resources will need to be brought in so that Staff can work on home stay 
lodging issues. City Manager Estes said he has been talking with Director Cronin about Staff’s capacity for 
projects like implementing Phase 4 of the Riverfront Vision Plan, Advance Astoria, and the west end streetscape 
project. The Community Development Department is currently developing a site plan review process and there 
are other development review process issues that need to be resolved. 
 



  

Page 5 of 5  City Council Journal of Proceedings 
  May 10, 2017 
 

Councilor Price believed Staff’s limited capacity was a good reason to refrain from changing home stay lodging 
requirements at this time. City Manager Estes confirmed that Staff could get the work done, but it would take 
about a year and the Community Development Department would need additional resources. He explained that 
lack of personnel and increased workloads have required all departments to look for additional resources. 
 
Councilor Price said she has done a lot of research and found that every city that has allowed vacation rentals 
has ended up in some very bad situations. These cities are all now in the process of trying to make new 
regulations and having horrible enforcement issues. Vacation rentals are not good for Astoria just as they have 
not been good for any other city. Vacation rentals destroy communities. 
 
Mayor LaMear noted that vacation rentals are classified as hotels and motels and the buildings are not owner or 
manager occupied. She reminded that this conversation was not about vacation rentals. Councilor Price 
disagreed and said the difference between a vacation rental and a home stay lodging was irrelevant because 
enforcement was the issue.  
 
Councilor Jones said people are already doing illegal things in town and banning an activity will not fix the 
enforcement problems. He believed the City should move forward with home stay lodging requirements even 
though it will take some time. The priority should be to implement a retroactive permitting process. City Council 
should focus on increasing the number of permanent residential housing units in the community. Home stay 
lodgings will not make a huge difference to the housing issues. Staff and Council have a lot more work to do 
over the next year to increase housing and home stay lodgings will not get the City very far. The City needs to 
focus on the recommendations in the Affordable Housing Study that will make a big difference. 
 
Mayor LaMear asked the community to come forward with any ideas to help the affordable housing crisis. She 
would love for a developer to buy the Clatsop Care building and turn it into affordable housing. However, she 
understood why renovating buildings like that were cost prohibitive. She thanked the public for their interest and 
their comments. 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 11:09 am.  
 
ATTEST:       APPROVED: 
 
 
 
              
Finance Director City Manager  



 
 

Parks Advisory Board Meeting Minutes 
April 26, 2017 

 
Chairperson Norma Hernandez called meeting to Order at 6:47am.  
 
Present- Norma Hernandez, Jessica Schleif, Andrew Fick, Jim Holen, Aaron Crockett, Jessica 
Schleif, and Michele Tompkins. 
 
Absent - Eric Halverson 
 
Staff- Angela Cosby, Laura Gillum, and Genesee Dennis.  
 
Public comments 

1. There were none. 
 
President Hernandez 

A. What do you hear- Jessica Schleif said she had heard from several people that it was 
important to keep Shively Hall intact and as is. President Hernandez heard that many people 
are aware of and concerned about the situation in the Parks Department, but do not know how 
to help. Andrew Fick had received many questions about potential cuts to programs, facilities, 
and services. He and Ms. Schleif shared details about difficulties accessing presentations, 
agenda packets, and meeting minutes on the City’s website. Director Cosby noted the online 
documents should be current through December 2016 unless a glitch has occurred. President 
Hernandez apologized that the agenda was sent out last minute. Andrew Fick expressed the 
importance of receiving the agenda packet in a timely manner. Big decisions need to be made 
and he did not want the Board rushing through the information they need to consider. Michele 
Tompkins thanked Director Cosby for giving a presentation to City Council in March. Jim Holen 
heard comments suggesting the youth sports be managed by a partner organization instead of 
Parks staff.  

 
Employee Recognition 

A. Genesee Dennis recognized Laura Gillum as the April employee of the month.  
B. Director Cosby recognized Genesee Dennis as March employee of the month. 

 
Old Business 

A. Jim Holen gave an update on the Parks Foundation’s upcoming fundraisers, Run on the River 
and Parks After Dark. Volunteers and sponsors are still needed for Run on the River. Director 
Cosby noted the route would include the 36th Street Pier instead of the hill to Alderbrook this 
year and volunteers could sign up online. 

B. Director Cosby updated the Board on implementation of the Parks and Recreation Master 
Plan. The Capital Improvement and Maintenance Plans will be complete by the end of the 
year. The Parks Department has almost $200,000 in Capital Improvement funds, but about $3 
million in capital improvement project needs. 
 

New Business 

A. Director Cosby presented an update on the scholarship program. The Parks Foundation voted 
to change the area of eligibility from the Astoria city limits to the Astoria School District 



boundaries. She asked the Parks Board to recommend that City Council adopt the change to 
the program. 
Andrew Fick believed approving the new boundaries for scholarships would help promote a 
parks and recreation district with the same boundaries. Director Cosby added that a district 
could bring an additional $12,000 per year into the Parks Department. The Parks Board 
unanimously voted to recommend that City Council adopt the Astoria School District 
boundaries as the area eligible for Parks Foundation scholarships. 

B. Director Cosby provided an update on the site-specific plans for Shively and McClure Parks. 
The consultant is developing concept plans and cost estimates. The concept plans will be 
published and public input will be used to refine the plans. The Parks Board will review the 
plans at their May 24th meeting. She confirmed the site plans were meant to reduce 
maintenance needs and costs at both parks and any new projects at the parks would be grant 
funded. 

C. Director Cosby updated the Board on efforts to resolve the issues related to youth swim team 
lane rental fees. On May 1, 2017, Staff will recommend that City Council approve a rental fee 
for the Northcoast Swim Club of $1.00 per lane/per hour for the first year, and $2.50 per 
lane/per hour for the second year. The Parks Foundation is assisting the swim club with 
scholarships and Staff has helped the club receive donations. Staff will also recommend 
Council approve the $2.50 rate for the Astoria School District swim team. She answered 
questions about Council’s direction to charge the school district higher rates than parent-led 
youth athletic teams and the impact of the rate increases. 

D. Director Cosby gave a brief update on the grant to restore the Doughboy Monument and said 
the restoration work would begin in the fall. 

E. Director Cosby provided updates on work sessions with City Council to discuss current issues 
and sustainability of the Parks Department. Staff is gathering data to facilitate the sale of some 
park properties, per Council’s direction. The Board and Staff discussed the situation with the 
following key comments: 
• Revenue from land sales would be deposited into the City’s General Fund, but the money 

could be earmarked for specific items. 
• Staff is responsible for generating revenue and has been directed by Council to 

recommend solutions to the budget issues. Additionally, the Parks Board cannot make 
budget related recommendations, but can support Staff. Director Cosby said she would 
continue to keep the Board updated.  

• Staff answered questions about cutting programs, which would only benefit the budget 
minimally. Adding additional resources would make a bigger difference than making cuts, 
so Staff would recommend that Council consider some new revenue streams. 

• Staff played a draft video that would be released to the public the following week 
• Staff answered questions about selling properties, budget issues, Staff’s capacity, Staff’s 

recommended solutions, and City Council’s timeline. Director Cosby noted she was 
concerned that Staff turnover would result in program cancelations and facility closures 
before Council comes to a decision. Some of the recommendations would need to be 
approved by voters. 

 
Staff Reports 
 
President Hernandez noted that the Staff reports were not included in the agenda packet. Director 
Cosby said she would send the reports via email. She announced that Jennifer Benoit was now 
Executive Assistant to the City Manager’s Office, so the Parks Department contracted with former 
employee Janice O’Malley Galizio to do the marketing. 
 
Upcoming Events 



• City Council Work Session, Thursday, May 4th at 6:00 pm at City Hall 
• Parents’ Night Out, every Saturday from 6:00 pm to 9:00 pm at Port of Play 
• Youth Softball Practices Begin, May 2nd at Tapiola Park 
• New Swimming Lesson Session, April 25th at Astoria Aquatic Center 
• Lil’ Sprouts Pre-K Graduation, May 26th at 6:00 pm at Port of Play 
• Astoria Recreation Center, Port of Play, and Lil’ Sprouts will be closed on Memorial Day, May 29th 
• Adult Softball League Games Begin, May 30th 
 
Future Meetings 
• May 24, 2017 at 6:45 am in City Hall, Council Chambers 
• June 28, 2017 at 6:45 am in City Hall, Council Chambers 

 
Next meeting will be held Wednesday, May 24, 2017 at 6:45am at Astoria City Hall in 
Council Chambers. 

 



-1- 
 

Astoria Library Board Meeting 
Astoria Public Library 

April 25, 2017 
5:30 pm. 

 
 
Present: Library Board members Kate Summers, David Oser, Susan Stein, Kimberley Chaput, 

and Chris Womack. Staff Library Director Jimmy Pearson and ALFA Representative 
Steve Emmons. 

 
Excused: None. 
 
Call to Order:  Chair Kate Summers called the meeting to order at 5:30 pm. 
 
Approval of Agenda:  The agenda was approved as presented.  
 
Approval of Minutes:  The minutes of April 4, 2017 were approved with the following corrections: 

• Remove in the second line of Board Reports on Page 1. 
• Removal of the apostrophes in the second bullet under Library Programs on Page 1.  

 
Board Reports:  There were none. 
 
Library Director’s Report:   
 
Director Pearson presented several items from the 1800s that were recently discovered in the library’s 
collection. These items are part of what makes Astoria unique and he wanted to ensure they are 
preserved and made accessible. He has been working with John Goodenberger and two students from 
Clatsop Community College to research grant opportunities for this preservation project.  
 
Director Pearson’s report was as follows: 
• Library Facilities: 

• The automatic door opener would be installed on the south entrance on May 15th. Placement of 
the button would affect the mural, so he will coordinate with the woman who made the mural. 

• Terry’s Plumbing has been asked to submit a cost estimate for the water fountain by Friday. If a 
water line needs to be replaced, the cost might be so high that the work would have to wait until 
the renovation. 

• Library Programs: 
• The Saturday Poetry Reading is being done in coordination with Rick’s Poetry Night to celebrate 

April as Poetry Month. The event will begin at 6:00 pm. 
• Staff is visiting schools to spread the word about Summer Reading. 
• The first Teen Advisory Council information meeting would be on May 20th at 3:00 pm. 
• The City Council/Library work session has been scheduled for May 30th at 6:00 pm at City Hall in 

Council Chambers. 
• IT Update: 

• The email server has been updated. 
• The library is now using Baker & Taylor as their supplier instead of Amazon. 

• Director’s Activities: 
• Director Pearson attended the Oregon Library Association (OLA) meeting, where he networked 

with colleagues and spoke to the library’s Baker & Taylor representative about costs for the levels 
of service they offer. 
• The Board and Staff discussed the pros and cons of using date due slips, which are 

appreciated by library users but cost extra. Director Pearson said he would continue to think 
about the best ways to improve library services. 

 
Director Pearson updated the Board on the following: 
• Efforts to redecorate the teen area: extra shelving and unnecessary display items would be donated 

to Warrenton’s library. Funding from the Endowment Fund has already been approved, so the Teen 



-2- 
 

Advisory Committee can choose colors at its May meeting. He noted that since the teen area has 
been off limits, it has been easy to monitor.  

• Cleaning up the workroom: Staff is considering how to best use the space as they work to clean up 
several areas of the library and make spaces more efficient. 

 
Update on ALFA Activities: 
 
Steve Emmons reported that Dave Ambrose has been elected as treasurer for 2017/2018. First quarter 
income was $1,475.18 and the current balance is $3,273.65. 
 
Update on Foundation: 
Chair Summers announced that Willis Van Dusen has been elected as president. The Foundation would 
give a presentation to City Council at the work session on May 30th. Their fundraising goal is $3.5 million. 
 
David Oser noted he hopes the City Council approves funding for architectural drawings and he believed 
the drawings would help the Foundation raise funds. He also noted that the Foundation was working on 
creating a logo. He encouraged all Board and ALFA members to attend the work session to demonstrate 
support for the library. 
 
New Business:  
 
David Oser reminded that officers would be elected in May or June. 
 
Old Business: There was none. 
 
Public Comments:  There were none. 
 
Items for Next Meeting’s Agenda: Review of the foundation’s presentation to Council and possibly 
Election of Officers. The next meeting will be May 23, 2017. 
 
Adjournment:  There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 6:02 pm. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
________________________________ 
Paula Pinyerd, ABC Transcription Services, Inc. 
 
 

















































































































































































































 

1 
Open House #2 Meeting Summary 

SHIVELY PARK AND MCCLURE PARK MASTER PLAN 
Online Survey Summary 

May 26, 2017 
 
 

The City of Astoria, with assistance from a consulting team led by GreenWorks, is preparing conceptual 
Master Plans for future improvements at McClure and Shively Parks. The master planning process is being 
funded by a planning grant from the Oregon Department of Parks and Recreation. As part of this effort, 
the City and its team have conducted a number of activities to reach out to community members about 
their desires and opinions related to plans for these two parks.  Activities have included: 

 Stakeholder meetings with members of Friends of McClure Park and the Astoria Parks Advisory 
Board. 

 Two sets of community meetings for each park to solicit feedback on conditions, opportunities, 
constraints, planning priorities and concepts.  

 An online survey to assess support for proposed Master Plan concepts, including support for the 
concepts overall as well as for specific programming objectives and recommended improvements 
at each park. 

The City publicized the online survey through a variety of means, including email announcements to 
community members who had attended community meetings or otherwise expressed an interest in the 
plans; a Parks Department Website announcement; and information provided to the Daily Astorian.  A 
total of 53 people responded to the survey.  Following is a brief summary of the results: 

 An overwhelming majority of respondents support the overall concepts for both parks with over 
87% saying that they support or strongly support the concept for MClure Park and over 77% 
voicing support or strong support for the Shively Park concept.  A larger number of survey 
participants said they were neutral about the Shively Park concept (15.6%), compared to McClure 
Park (4%).  In each case, less than 10% said they do not support the concepts.  

 A majority of people also support the programming objectives for each park.  For McClure Park, 
63-84% support the programming objectives, with most of the remainder saying they are neutral.  
For Shively Park, 51-75% support the programming objectives, with most of the remainder saying 
they are neutral.  About 10% or fewer people say they don’t support the overall objectives for the 
two parks. 

  A majority of people also support the individual improvements proposed for each park.   For 
McClure Park, the majority of elements receive about 70% support or better, while just a few 
elements (NW parking entrance, SE entrance design, and NE monument sign) receive just over 
50% support.  Most of the people who don’t voice support for a particular element say they are 
neutral, with only 4-20% saying they don’t support specific elements.  For Shively Park, 51-75% 
support the individual improvements, with most of the remainder saying they are neutral.  The 
elements with the least support (but still a majority of support) at Shively Park are the future 
phase accessible trail to the hilltop area and the park exit safety improvements. 

 The three most popular types of play equipment identified for McClure Park are the rocks and 
rope climbers, log crawl and nature-based play equipment.  While the basket swing received the 
fewest number of “top three” votes, just under half the respondents still placed this in their list of 
top three choices, and the project team note a variety of advantages for this particular feature. 
 

 



 

2 
Open House #2 Meeting Summary 

 
Other notable comments included the following: 

 Several people (less than 10% of survey respondents) noted concerns about the cost of 
improvements or about the City spending any money on improvements to these or other city 
parks. 

 Several people expressed concerns about removing swings at Shively Parks.  Their main concern is 
that the park should not eliminate the only play equipment there without incorporating some 
type of play activity for children who may be attending events at the park with their families. 

 Several people recommended maintaining the uncrowded, off the beaten path, natural look and 
feel that they currently enjoy at Shively Park. 

 Several people expressed general appreciation to the City for conducting the planning effort and 
for providing them with multiple opportunities to participate and share their thoughts. 

 

 
Prepared By: 
 
Matt Hastie  
Angelo Planning Group 



Shively park | master plan

SHIVELY park 
master plan REPORT

ASTORIA PARKS AND RECREATION

GREENWORKS
ANGLEGO PLANNING GROUP

KPFF ENGINEERING

May 2017



Shively park | master plan report

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
ASTORIA PARKS AND RECREATION
Angela Cosby, Parks Director

Rosemary Johnson, Parks Planner

Jonah Dart-McClean, Parks Supervisor

ASTORIA CHAMBER OF COMMERCE
ASTORIA PARKS BOARD
FRIENDS OF MCCLURE PARK

GREENWORKS
Mike Faha, Principal

Derek Sergison, Project Manager

Mike CorrenteMike Corrente

Ben Johnson

ANGELO PLANNING GROUP
MaƩ HasƟ e

Kyra Schneider

KPFF ENGINEERING
Curt Vanderzanden, Principal

Stuart Finney



Shively park | master plan REPORT

Shively park 
master plan Report

Prepared for: 

Astoria Parks and RecreaƟ on

1997 Marine Dr. 

Astoria, OR 97103

May 2017

Prepared by:

GreenWorks, P.C.

Landscape Architecture -Environmental Design 

24 NW 2nd Ave., Suite 100

Portland, Oregon 97209

1 Summary 

2 Community Engagement

3 Site Analysis

7 Master Plan

11 ImplementaƟ on

14 Appendix
 

 

contents



1Shively park | master plan report

summary community Engagement

The City of Astoria and its consultants team members 

conducted community engagement acƟ viƟ es at four stages of 

the master planning process. (See appendix)

STAGE 1 ͳ STAKEHOLDER MEETINGS
Astoria Parks and RecreaƟ on hosted two Stakeholder 

meeƟ ngs to advise the groups of the scope and Ɵ me line 

of the Master Plan project, introduce them to the team 

members, and obtain comments from them concerning 

Shively and McClure.  

STAGE 2 ͳ COMMUNITY OPEN HOUSE #1 : 
SITE ANALYSIS, EDUCATION, AND ENGAGEMENT
The City of Astoria and consultant team members led the 

fi rst public open house to provide community members with 

the opportunity to make comments and recommendaƟ ons 

on how Shively Park should be maintained and/or improved. 

MeeƟ ng topics included preferred uses and acƟ viƟ es in the 

Park, maintenance of natural features, construcƟ on and/or 

maintenance of park ameniƟ es, safety consideraƟ ons, and 

access to the park. The planning team presented informaƟ on 

about condiƟ ons, opportuniƟ es, constraints, and possible 

programming ideas for the park. InteracƟ ve exercises 

provided parƟ cipants opportunity to state their preference 

for diff erent types of programming ideas and to idenƟ fy 

suggesƟ ons for acƟ viƟ es or improvements within the parks. 

Approximately 40 community members aƩ ended the public 

meeƟ ngs and the results are in the appendix of this report.

The 2016-2026 Astoria Parks and RecreaƟ on Comprehensive 

Master Plan prioriƟ zed preparaƟ on of site Master Plans 

for Shively Park and McClure Park. McClure Park ranked as 

the second highest priority for site master plans with the 

community. The processes for McClure and Shively Park 

was in connecƟ on to effi  ciently create a vision for both 

sites and eff ecƟ vely capture stakehodler and community 

feedback. Shively Park ranked as the community’s highest 

priority as a need to balance the park’s rich history with 

a low maintenance and accessible design that meets 

the community’s needs. A Master Plan for Shively Park 

would ensure that new development is supported by the 

community and Parks and RecreaƟ on Department, and that it 

can be cared for and adequately maintained into the future.

This process was funded by the Oregon Parks and RecreaƟ on 

Department Local Government Grant Program provides 

Small Community Planning Grants to support site-specifi c 

park and outdoor recreaƟ on plans. These planning eff orts 

target a specifi c site that has been idenƟ fi ed in a system-wide 

parks and recreaƟ on plan. Site-specifi c planning projects 

include public outreach and an analysis process that leads to 

a detailed plan for full development or redevelopment a park 

or other recreaƟ onal-use site. 

The McClure Park Master Plan is a vision for the project site 

and a framework to guide the preparaƟ on of detailed design 

documents for the development of the park. The Master 

Plan was developed as a collaboraƟ on between Astoria Parks 

& RecreaƟ on, the Astoria community, Astoria Park Board, 

Astoria Chamber of Commerce Members and the planning 

consultants. This document includes background informaƟ on 

and analysis of the park site and provides a conceptual design 

for the park, as a result of extensive research and community 

outreach. The process was conducted in stages over the 

course of six months in 2017 with the intent to create a vision 

that refl ects the communiƟ es wants and needs.



2 Shively park | master plan REPORT

STAGE 3 ͳ COMMUNITY OPEN HOUSE #2 : 
ANALYSIS, UNDERSTANDING AND DIRECTION
The City of Astoria and consultant team members led a 

second public open house to provide community members 

with the opportunity review and comment on two draŌ  

concepts for Shively Park. Each concept included a variety 

of elements. ParƟ cipants were asked to note whether they 

liked or disliked the specifi c elements or had any other 

recommendaƟ ons for addiƟ onal ameniƟ es or whether they 

suggested any refi nements to the concepts presented. The 

meeƟ ng included a brief presentaƟ on of the concepts, a 

quesƟ on and answer session, and interacƟ ve exercises to 

state their preference for diff erent programming elements 

and concepts. Approximately 30-35 people aƩ ended the 

meeƟ ng and a summary of the results are in the appendix of 

this report.

STAGE 4 ͳ ONLINE COMMUNITY SURVEY:
VALIDATING THE DESIGN  
The City and its team have conducted an online survey 

to assess support for proposed Master Plan concepts, 

including support for the concepts overall as well as for 

specifi c programming objecƟ ves and recommended 

improvements at each park.  The City publicized the survey 

through a variety of means, including email announcements 

to community members who had aƩ ended community 

meeƟ ngs or otherwise expressed an interest in the plans; a 

Parks Department Website announcement; and informaƟ on 

provided to the Daily Astorian.  A total of 53 people 

responded to the survey. 

An overwhelming majority of respondents (over 77%) support 

the overall concept for the Shively Park concept.  About 15% 

are neutral and only 6% say they do not support the concept. 

A majority of people also support the programming objecƟ ves 

for Shively Park (51-75%), with most of the remainder saying 

they are neutral.  About 2-11% say they don’t support the 

overall objecƟ ves for the two parks.

 A majority of people (51-75%) also support the individual 

improvements proposed for Shively Park, with most of the 

remainder saying they are neutral.  The elements with the 

least support (but sƟ ll a majority of support) at Shively Park 

are the future phase accessible trail to the hilltop area and 

the park exit safety improvements.

Other notable comments included:

• Several people (less than 10% of survey respondents) 

noted concerns about the cost of improvements or about 

the City spending any money on improvements to these 

or other city parks.

• Several people expressed concerns about removing 

swings at Shively Park.  Their main concern is that the 

park should not eliminate the only play equipment there 

without incorporaƟ ng some type of play acƟ vity for 

children who may be aƩ ending events at the park with 

their families.

• Several people recommended maintaining the 

uncrowded, off  the beaten path, natural look and feel 

that they currently enjoy at Shively Park.

• Several people expressed general appreciaƟ on to the City 

for conducƟ ng the planning eff ort and for providing them 

with mulƟ ple opportuniƟ es to parƟ cipate and share their 

thoughts.



3Shively park | master plan report

Shively Park is historic hilltop park with a community hall, two 

picnic shelters, open lawn and landscaped area, small play 

structure, and large forested natural areas with meandering 

informal trails. It is approximately 11.7 acres in its enƟ rety, 

with the most acƟ ve area located within the Shively Park 

Road loop.

HISTORY
Named for John Shively, the park was deeded by his son 

Charles W. Shively to the City of Astoria in 1898. John Shively 

arrived in Astoria in 1843 and plaƩ ed a large land grant as 

the Shively Subdivision. He was the fi rst US Postmaster west 

of the Rocky Mountains. Charles Shively donated fi ve acres 

and sold an addiƟ onal seven acres to the Astoria Progressive. 

The site was developed for Astoria’s Centennial celebraƟ on 

in 1911 and included a reconstrucƟ on of Fort Astoria, an 

amphitheater on the park’s south slope, exhibiƟ on halls, a 

NaƟ ve American camp, botanical garden, trails, and a zoo. 

Landscaping was designed by Arthur L. Peck, who pioneered 

Landscape Architecture at Oregon Agricultural College. 

Within 20 years, many of the Centennial features were 

dilapidated or missing. A meeƟ ng hall and restroom was 

constructed in the 1920s on the site of the former Fort 

reconstrucƟ on. For a more extensive history of the site, see 

the Astoria Parks and RecreaƟ on Comprehensive Master Plan. 

CONTEXT
There are mulƟ ple properƟ es surrounding Shively Park that 

are owned by the City and are not part of the main Tax Lot 

1200.

These sites include Astoria Reservoir, private property land 

owner, Astoria Middle School, a power line corridor, Astor 

Column , Bonneville Power, Recology, Clatsop Community 

College, and residenƟ al communiƟ es to the north and south.

SITE ANALYSIS

ACCESS
Vehicle's access the site from the north by the reservoir. The 

roadway is narrow and requires drivers to communicate if 

they are entering and exiƟ ng at the same Ɵ me. The exit ramp 

is potenƟ ally hazardous as the drivers view of oncoming 

downhill traffi  c is blocked by a retaining wall. 

The Park has informal parking and lacks a sense of arrival 

and wayfi nding system. When visitors arrive, there is no clear 

indicaƟ on of where they should go or how to get there. Many 

visitors drive past the parking and aƩ empt to take the Shively 

Trail Loop unƟ l they reach a gate and must reverse before 

turning around. OŌ en, drivers will go down the private drive 

to the residences on the northwest. This residence has an 

easement with the city which provides them unrestricted 

access to and from their home but occasionally vehicles 

park block their driveway. If these properƟ es where be sold, 

it would be benefi cial for the City to purchase them and 

incorporate them into the park.

The Shively Loop Road is a wide paved loop path within 

Shively Park through forested areas, with informal soŌ  

surface trail spurs. One trail connects to Evergreen Fields and 

Astoria Middle School. These trails are used by many hikers 

throughout the year and off ers a nature escape within the 

city. The access trail from Shively Hall to the hilltop is a steep 



4 Shively park | master plan REPORT

at 20% grade slope with many large roots that create tripping 

hazard. It is a challenging access route for visitors and not 

considered accessible by ADA standards.

Dog walkers frequent these trails and rarely obey the off -

leash rules posted at the entrance. This has become a safety 

concern for some visitors of the park.

STRUCTURES
The Shively Community Hall is available for rentals and 

includes a meeƟ ng room, kitchen, and restrooms. The 

building accommodates 55 seated guests or 85 standing. 

The buidling has no ADA accessible routes for wheel chairs 

or for the restrooms. The Hall's condiƟ on was not evaluated 

as part of this master planning eff ort and relocaƟ on was not 

considered. The large playground swing, while providing an 

opportunity for children to play, takes up a signifi cant amount 

of space, is old and a maintenance concern 

At the upper hilltop, two historic picnic shelters serve as 

gathering areas for outdoor events. One shelter does not 

have a fl oor, but overall the structures appear to be in fair 

condiƟ on without having done an in depth structural analysis. 

There are signifi cant tree roots through the area around the 

shelters. These shelters aƩ ract visitors aŌ er park hours and 

drug and alcohol use has been reported, creaƟ ng safety issue 

in the park. 

The Weinhard Column was salvaged from the 1922 fi res 

downtown and relocated to Shively Park. The monument 

stands behind the Hall as a gateway to the hilltop trail. The 

structure has large supports and may be diffi  cult to relocate. 

It is one of the more prominent cultural arƟ facts of the park. 

TOPOGRAPHY & DRAINAGE
The site is located on a hilltop with steep, vegetated slopes. 

There does not appear to be any formal storm drainage 

faciliƟ es and surface runoff  appears to sheet fl ow from the 

upper levels of the park in all direcƟ ons without signifi cant 

concentraƟ on of fl ows to any one locaƟ on. The Shively Loop 

Road has steep 2:1 embankments along most edges through 

the park. Widening, or impacƟ ng the road would require 

extensive earthwork and walls with impacts to many trees. 

Because of the steep slopes, wheelchair access is limited to 

the road as there are no ramps to access the Community Hall 

or the Hilltop.

VEGETATION
At the Ɵ me of the centennial celebraƟ on, most of the site had 

been clear cut. It has since overgrown and is a dense forest.  

There are many signifi cant mature trees throughout the site 

with a few ornamental species which were introduced at the 

Centennial Fair. There is a Monkey Puzzle tree and Yew trees 



5Shively park | master plan report

SITE ANALYSIS (continued)

at the entrance planted for the centennial which should be 

preserved as part of the sites history. Many trees along the 

trails and open space permiƩ er show signs of limb failure 

and present potenƟ al hazards to visitors. At the #12 on the 

site Analysis Plan (page 6), a signifi cantly large conifer tree 

has grown over the staircase and presents a potenƟ al safety 

hazard (below). This staircase is not usable, but has become a 

unique feature in the park. There is a formal hedgerow at the 

hilltop which is shows sings of age.

Invasive English Ivy and Himalayan Blackberry exists 

throughout the site but should be eradicated. 

UTILITIES
There appears to be a 6” sanitary sewer line at the north east 

corner of the park.  It is unclear if this sanitary sewer service 

is extended into the park property to serve Shively Hall. If it 

does not extend into the site, then it is likely that the Hall is 

served by a sepƟ c system. 

Shively Park is served from a water main located in  

Williamsport Road at the northeast corner of the park 

property. If if there is a desire to incorporate water services 

to other areas, especially the upper wedding and event area,  

the 1” water service would need to be up-sized.  This is due 

to the signifi cant elevaƟ on gain from the point of connecƟ on 

to the upper area and potenƟ al addiƟ onal uses.

The exisƟ ng parking lot located at the north end of the site 

appears to be graded to fl ow into an exisƟ ng roadside ditch 

located adjacent to 16th Street.

Any new storm water management faciliƟ es will need to take 

into consideraƟ on the steep slopes.  The use of infi ltraƟ on for 

disposal of stormwater would likely prove to be problemaƟ c 

in controlling erosion. 

There appears to be adequate space near the exisƟ ng parking 

area and Shively Hall to incorporate low impact development 

stormwater faciliƟ es to treat runoff  impervious areas. A study  

look at the exisƟ ng system and area further to the north of 

the site will be need to be confi rmed that the exisƟ ng ditch 

and piping are adequately sized to convey anƟ cipated fl ows.

OPPORTUNITIES AND CONSTRAINTS
The] steep terrain and dense vegetaƟ on and desire to restore 

sites eclecƟ c character limit improvements to be focused 

in a few key areas; the parking lot, the Shively Hall, and the 

hilltop. There is an opportunity for an accessible route to 

Shively Hall from the parking lot, as well as from the Shively 

Loop trail to the upper hilltop. The playground next to Shively 

Hall would be an ideal locaƟ on for an outdoor paƟ o to 

compliment events at the Hall.

Visitors would greatly benefi t from an improved wayfi nding 

system with maps and interpreƟ ve informaƟ on of the park 

history and natural ecology.  There are many historical 

arƟ facts from the Centennial CelebraƟ on and Astoria's 

history which could become focal points in the park. Some 

of these arƟ facts need minor improvements, but a simple 

interpreƟ ve feature could reveal their history to visitors draw 

more visitors and students to use the space as an outdoor 

classroom. 

The exisƟ ng forest is a beauƟ ful backdrop to a special 

ceremonial space at the hilltop. Minor landscape 

improvements here would go a long way to enhancing the 

sense of place for events and weddings. 



6 Shively park | master plan REPORT

LEGEND - Park Area : 11.7 acres

KEY NOTES

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

1

2
3

4

5

6
7

8

9

10

11

13

15
14

12

0’ 10’ 20’ 40’

SHIVELY PARK



7Shively park | master plan report

Master Plan

1

3

4

2

i
T

ID

PARK EXIT SAFETY IMPROVEMENTS 
Improve visibility at exit by lowering retaining wall height 

& lowering the slope of the turf. Also consider re-striping 

and traffi  c mirror. 

PARK ARRIVAL  
Create a sense of arrival with monument sign, landscape 

improvements, a formalized parking lot and add an 

ADA space. Install a trailhead kiosk with a trail map, and 

informaƟ on on the site's history to help orient visitors. 

Relocate the vehicle access gate closer to the exit.

PICNIC LAWN
Preserve open lawn and add one or more picnic tables 

with accessible path from the parking lot. Preserve and 

protect Monkey tree as a centennial arƟ fact. The lawn 

area may serve as a future site for a small playground.

SAFETY IMPROVEMENTS AT HISTORIC ENTRY STEPS
Add handrails to steps while preserving Yew trees and 

light fi xtures.

SHIVELY HALL TERRACE 
The outdoor paƟ o terrace becomes a gathering area 

for events at Shively Hall. The stone paƟ o includes seat 

walls, interpreƟ ve features, and an accessible walkway 

from the back porch of the Hall to the paƟ o.  It is 

approximately 2,000 square feet and bordered with a 

naƟ ve meadow and shrubs.

SHIVELY HALL ACCESSIBLE ROUTE 
Provide a 6’ wide accessible ramp with handrails and 

landings for visitors accessing the hall. The ramp system 

connects the paved trail where the exisƟ ng slope 

begins to exceed 5%. Connect to the exterior rest room 

entrance on the lower fl oor and up to the rear of the 

hall entrance. As the ramp switchbacks, it meets an 

interpreƟ ve node displaying the Wienhard Columns and 

naƟ ve shrubs with plant ID markers. 

CENTENNIAL OVERLOOK TRAIL 
Add a trail marker and improve the trail surfacing 

condiƟ on with addiƟ onal landing and bench to provide 

pause and rest moments.

SHELTER IMPROVEMENTS: 
Replace hard surface fl ooring and repaint structures.

CENTENNIAL LAWN: 
Create a 20' widened formal lawn with new hedgerow of 

naƟ ve evergreen huckleberry and natural stone edging. 

CENTENNIAL OVERLOOK
A stone overlook pad serves as a ceremonial space at 

the historical axis of stairs, shelters and formal lawn. It 

includes interpreƟ ve features depicƟ ng the centennial 

amphitheater, celebraƟ ons, and fl ag pole.

HISTORIC STEPS
Preserve the historic steps on east and west sides as 

Centennial arƟ facts and provide signs to warn aging 

condiƟ ons.

FUTURE PHASE: SAFETY IMPROVEMENTS TO 
ACCESS STEPS
Create a primary safe stairway access route by 

reconstrucƟ ng the small southern staircases and adding 

handrails.

FUTURE PHASE: ACCESSIBLE RAMP
Develop a paved accessible route with handrails. This will 

require a survey, geotechnical review of slope condiƟ ons 

and an arborist evaluaƟ on for alignment within tree root 

zones.

LEGEND
Trail Map or Marker

InterpreƟ ve Feature

NaƟ ve Plant ID Walk

5

7

6

8

10

11

12

13

9

As set of key programming goals were idenƟ fi ed throughout the community engagement process and Parks and RecreaƟ on 

Comprehensive plan.  Shively Park ranked as the community’s highest priority and to balance the park’s rich history with a 

low maintenance and accessible design that meets the community’s needs. A top priority is to improve access to Shively Hall 

and other areas, to the extent feasibly possible. Also, recognizing the cultural history of the park through arƟ fact preservaƟ on 

and interpreƟ ve features, and providing visitors with improved wayfi nding and trail markers was idenƟ fi ed as very important. 

Because of the sites rich cultural history, we recommend that an in-depth interpreƟ ve plan be developed to accompany 

the next phase of design.  There is also a desire to improve forest health by removing invasive species, enhancing naƟ ve 

understory and improving maintenance pracƟ ces. This will create an opportunity to promote outdoor educaƟ on with naƟ ve 

fl ora and fauna idenƟ fi caƟ on. 



8 Shively park | master plan REPORT

0’ 10’ 20’ 40’

1

2
3

4

5

8

9

10

12

11

11

6

7

13

11

VIEW b

VIEW A

SHIVELY PARK ROAD

WILLIAMSPORT ROADSHIVELY PARK ROAD



9Shively park | master plan report

Entrance and Parking Lot Improvements

Master Plan 



10 Shively park | master plan REPORT

Hilltop Improvements



11Shively park | master plan report

implementation

ImplementaƟ on of the Master Plan recommendaƟ ons would 

be completed as funding is acquired through mulƟ ple sources 

such as grants, donaƟ ons, City budget, etc.  The possibility 

of a parks maintenance fee, while potenƟ ally challenging 

to adopt, would provide the city with a lot of value in 

maintenance and redevelopment of exisƟ ng parks such as 

Shively Park. 

Partnerships 
Partnerships between two separate agencies, such as 

two government enƟ Ɵ es, a non-profi t and a government 

department, or a private business and a government 

agency for joint development or operaƟ on allow a city to  

share the risk, operaƟ onal costs, responsibiliƟ es, and asset 

management, uƟ lizing the strengths of each partner.

Friends and Volunteer Programs 
This group can raise money for a single purpose, such as the 

embankment slide, or a park facility/program that will benefi t 

a parƟ cular special interest populaƟ on or the community as 

a whole. 

Volunteers assist the community in providing a product or 

service, donaƟ ng Ɵ me on an hourly basis. This reduces the 

City’s cost in providing the service, plus it builds advocacy for 

the system. To best manage a volunteer program, an agency 

typically dedicates a staff  member to oversee it. For example, 

Lincoln City employs a staff  person dedicated to recruiƟ ng 

and organizing volunteers to help maintain its open spaces. 

Adopt-a-Park/Adopt-a-Trail Programs involve residents, 

businesses, and/or organizaƟ ons in improving and 

maintaining parks and related faciliƟ es, in the community in 

which they live. 

GiŌ  Catalogs 
GiŌ  catalogs let the community know the city’s needs on a 

yearly basis. Community members purchase items from the 

giŌ  catalog and donate them to the City. 

Grants 
Grants can supplement or match city funds for programs, 

planning, design, seed money, and construcƟ on. Grants are 

best for funding specifi c ventures as ciƟ es cannot depend on 

them as a conƟ nuous source of funding.  Grants fall into the 

following categories:

General Purpose or OperaƟ ng Grants 
 Giving a city an operaƟ ng grant for the general operaƟ ng 

expenses indicates  the fund provider supports the City’s 

overall mission and trusts that the city  will be put the money 

to good use. 

Program or Support Grants 
A program or support grant typically is earmarked for a 

specifi c or connected set of acƟ viƟ es that have a beginning 

and an end, specifi c objecƟ ves, and pre-determined costs. 

Some of the most common types of program or support 

grants include:

  Planning Grants that support research and 

development for major new programs , such as 

invesƟ gaƟ ng the needs of consƟ tuents, or consulƟ ng 

with experts in the fi eld. 

  FaciliƟ es and Equipment Grants that help a city buy 

long-lasƟ ng physical assets, such as a building that will 

beƩ er serve its clients. Fund providers considering 

these requests will need to know the city’s fi nancial 

and program plans for the next several years in 

addiƟ on to the applicant’s current acƟ viƟ es and 

fi nancial health to ensure long term viability and good 

management. 

  Matching Grants that require the City to contribute an 

amount from other sources. Ability to raise matching 

funds is a sign of viability of an organizaƟ on or 

program. 

Program-Related Investments (PRIs) 
In addiƟ on to grants, the Internal Revenue Service allows 

foundaƟ ons to make Program-Related Investments (PRIs) 

to non-profi ts for projects that would be eligible for grant 

support, such as building projects. These loans usually charge 

low or zero interest and must be paid back. This may be an 

opportunity for a 501(c)(3) “Friends of Group.”

Fund-raising 
Many ciƟ es and park districts have fund-raisers on an annual 

basis to cover specifi c programs and capital projects. CiƟ es 

sell pavers in parks, hold fund-raising events, and conduct 

similar acƟ viƟ es to encourage community members to 

donate money. 

Bond Referendum 



12 Shively park | master plan REPORT

CiƟ es can use bonds to fund capital needs, renovaƟ ons, and 

new faciliƟ es to meet the needs and demands of residents. 

A bond is a wriƩ en promise to payback a specifi ed sum of 

money at a specifi ed future date, at a specifi ed interest rate.  

Types of bonds include:

  General ObligaƟ on Bonds issued with the approval of 

the electorate for capital improvements and general 

public improvements. 



13Shively park | master plan report

this page is 
intentionally left
blank



14 Shively park | master plan REPORT141444 ShShShShivivivivelelelelyyyy papapaparkrkrkrk || mamamamastststtstererererr ppplalalan REREPOOORTRTRTT

16 Stake Holder MeeƟ ng Notes

21 Open House #1 MeeƟ ng Notes

24 Open House #2 MeeƟ ng Notes

27 Online Survey Summary

35 Preliminary Design OpƟ ons

39 ExisƟ ng UƟ lity Review

41 EsƟ mate of Probable Cost

 

contents

APPENDIX

Shively park 
master plan Report



15Shively park | master plan report

this page is 
intentionally left
blank



16 Shively park | master plan REPORT

G:\Projects\116261_Shively_McClure_Parks_MP\01_Project_Management\03_Meeting_Notes\2017_02_09_Kick-off_Notes\2-9-17 
stakeholder meeting notes_revMH.docx 



17Shively park | master plan report

G:\Projects\116261_Shively_McClure_Parks_MP\01_Project_Management\03_Meeting_Notes\2017_02_09_Kick-off_Notes\2-9-17 
stakeholder meeting notes_revMH.docx 



18 Shively park | master plan REPORT

G:\Projects\116261_Shively_McClure_Parks_MP\01_Project_Management\03_Meeting_Notes\2017_02_09_Kick-off_Notes\2-9-17 
stakeholder meeting notes_revMH.docx 



19Shively park | master plan report

G:\Projects\116261_Shively_McClure_Parks_MP\01_Project_Management\03_Meeting_Notes\2017_02_09_Kick-off_Notes\2-9-17 
stakeholder meeting notes_revMH.docx 



20 Shively park | master plan REPORT

G:\Projects\116261_Shively_McClure_Parks_MP\01_Project_Management\03_Meeting_Notes\2017_02_09_Kick-off_Notes\2-9-17 
stakeholder meeting notes_revMH.docx 



21Shively park | master plan report

 

1 
Open House #1 Meeting Summary 

SSHHIVELY  PPAARK  AAND MMCCCCLLURE  PPAARK  MMAASTER  PPLLAN  
Open House #1 Meeting Summary 

March 7, 2017 
Shively Hall 

 
Staff Present: Angela Cosby, Parks Director; Jonah Dart-McClean, Parks Supervisor; Rosemary Johnson, 
Planning Consultant/Project Manager 
 
Consultants Present: Mike Faha, GreenWorks; Derek Sergison, GreenWorks; Matt Hastie, Angelo Planning 
Group 
 
The City of Astoria, with assistance from a consulting team led by GreenWorks, is preparing conceptual 
Master Plans for future improvements at McClure and Shively Parks. The master planning process is being 
funded by a planning grant from the Oregon Department of Parks and Recreation. As part of this effort, 
the City and its team is conducting community meetings to solicit feedback on planning priorities and 
concepts. A first set of meetings focused on conditions, opportunities, constraints, and priorities for the 
two parks. At a second round of public meetings, tentatively planned for April 11, the planning team will 
present optional Plans for comment and consideration. Final draft Master Plans will be presented to the 
City Council for consideration later this year. 

On March 7, the City of Astoria and its parks master planning consultants from GreenWorks and Angelo 
Planning Group conducted two public meetings to discuss master planning priorities for McClure and 
Shively Parks. The meetings took place at Shively Hall. The meetings were announced via the City’s 
Website; notices mailed to several hundred people who own property in the vicinity of the parks; flyers 
posted at various City facilities including the two parks, and meeting flyers distributed door-to-door in the 
McClure Park area. The first meeting (4:30 - 6 pm) was devoted to presentations and discussions about 
McClure Park; the second meeting (6:30-8 pm) focused on Shively Park. About 40 people attended the 
two meetings in total. 

The purpose of the meetings was to provide community members with the opportunity to make 
comments and recommendations on how these two Parks should be maintained and/or improved in the 
future. Meeting topics included preferred uses and activities with the Parks, maintenance of natural 
features, construction and/or maintenance of Park amenities, safety considerations, and access to the 
Parks. In each meeting, the planning team presented information about conditions, opportunities, 
constraints, and possible programming ideas for the park, followed by a question and answer session with 
participants. After the Q&A session, participants engaged in two interactive exercises to state their 
preference for different types of programming ideas and to identify suggestions for activities or 
improvements within the parks. Following is a summary of the results of the meeting. 
  



22 Shively park | master plan REPORT

Shively Park 
Project Presentation, One-on-One Comments, and Map Comments 
Comments and questions during and after the presentation included the following: 

Don’t want to lose certain trees such as monkey puzzles, Japanese maples, and the copper beech 
grove. We should develop a catalog of important vegetation. We should also build on and 
establish a native plant community, and get rid of invasive species through education and 
community removal efforts. Do not use pesticides for vegetation removal. The area needs to be 
part of a pollinator corridor in the area. At one time, there were interpretive signs or markers on 
trees and plants. How can we mesh information from the tree inventory that is expected to be 
finished by the end of May? Preserve healthy larger trees and continuous canopy wherever 
possible. Majestic old trees are more important than water views. 
Don’t want to lose archeological features, such as the staircases and the copper bench grove, and 
things that reflect Astoria’s character and sense of place and history. Some things have already 
been lost that didn’t need to be. The park has lots of history, and we need to decide how much we 
want to honor it and how much will be replaced or enhanced. We should be sure to acknowledge 
the site’s centennial history. Include historic nods to the botanical garden and amphitheater. 
Possibly an etched glass sign showing where the historic amphitheater used to be. 
There is no need for a nature playground here. 
Fix the crumbling stairs. 
In general, the park doesn’t need a bunch of improvements, and it should undergo only light 
maintenance to keep the natural feel. The beauty of this park is that it is used primarily as a 
sanctuary for locals. Keep it natural and somewhat rough, not “just another groomed up park.” 
There is a need for maintenance and clean-up of the shelters, and improvements to the hedges in 
the events area. Also in the events area, #15 may need the stairs fixed. 
Access to Shively Hall is difficult, particularly at the top of the slope. Do any park improvements 
trigger ADA improvements to Shively Hall? Is the west road less steep than east road? Do ADA 
improvements on the east side behind the swings? 
There are currently trails to places that we don’t want people going. 
We should look at the polling about who uses the park that was asked during the Parks & 
Recreation Comprehensive Plan. 
There are lots of dog walkers, and the green space is well-used. Is it feasible and/or appropriate to 
have a dog park in the lawn area north of the open area? 
Park safety concerns include active drug dealing and unleashed animals. 
Slopes can be used for sledding in snow from the swings to the lawn. 
Walking is sheltered from wind by large trees. 
License to use parkway and road access west of Shively Hall; vehicles block resident driveways 
often. 
The park entrance is difficult and lacks signage to direct people, possibly Centennial archway? 
In 2007, 150 mph winds took down trees. Consider hazardous trees and overhanging limbs to be 
cleared out.  
Keep the forested areas.  Don’t open up views of Young’s Bay as the forested nature of the Park is 
its beauty and views are available from other vantage points such as the Column. 



23Shively park | master plan report

Comment Forms 
Since much of what was original to the park is gone, it would be great to put historic photos in 
Shively Hall, such as some high-quality reproductions on foam board or in frames. A couple of 
picnic tables on the open lawn would be useful and accessible. 
Provide ADA access to Shively Hall – to the south, back porch entrance. Consider starting access 
about 300’ from east of the gate entrance, leading up toward south end of swing set to Shively 
Hall entrance. Suggest asphalt walkway, with pipe railing. Suggest considering underground power 
to picnic shelters area for improved safety, security, use of area for events. Signage from trail 
access to the power line “Young’s Bay Overlook”—could be at 1 ½ to 2-mile round trip to the west 
end of the power lines. Establish a “Porch Watch” notice, indicate law enforcement is called to 
report suspicious activity. 
Acknowledge the history, e.g. Centennial Park. Develop “formal gardens” and integrate with 
“natural” elements.  
What about recreation? Is walking path around allowable? Trail connections are important, e.g., 
to the middle school, pipeline (street crossing). Preserve trees rather than make fields. 
Make a connection to the 1911 Centennial Celebration: use old stairs from the centennial to do 
interpretation of the park’s history, maybe block them off for safety, but build a foot trail that 
goes by them. Special events—great location at a reasonable price. Carefully create enhanced 
views. 

Dot Exercise (listed in order of priority) 
Historical Recognition: 12 
Passive Recreation: 11 
Interconnecting Trails: 7 
Nature Play: 7 
Outdoor Learning: 7 
Trail Maintenance & Invasive Removal: 6 
Nature Based Play: 5 
Outdoor Events: 3 
Shively Hall Events: 3 
Accessibility: 2 
View shed Management:2 
Picnic: 2 
Signage & Wayfinding: 1 
Garden Terrace: 0 

 
Prepared By: 
 
Matt Hastie and Kyra Schneider 
Angelo Planning Group 



24 Shively park | master plan REPORT

 

1 
Open House #2 Meeting Summary 

SSHHIVELY  PPAARK  AAND MMCCCCLLURE  PPAARK  MMAASTER  PPLLAN  
Open House #2 Meeting Summary 

April 11, 2017 
Shively Hall 

 
Staff Present: Angela Cosby, Parks Director; Jonah Dart-McClean, Parks Supervisor; Rosemary Johnson, 
Planning Consultant/Project Manager 
 
Consultants Present: Derek Sergison, GreenWorks; Matt Hastie, Angelo Planning Group 
 
The City of Astoria, with assistance from a consulting team led by GreenWorks, is preparing conceptual 
Master Plans for future improvements at McClure and Shively Parks. The master planning process is being 
funded by a planning grant from the Oregon Department of Parks and Recreation. As part of this effort, 
the City and its team are conducting community meetings to solicit feedback on planning priorities and 
concepts. A first set of meetings, conducted on March 7, 2017, focused on conditions, opportunities, 
constraints, and priorities for the two parks. At a second round of public meetings on April 11, the 
planning team presented two concepts for each Park for comment and consideration. Final draft Master 
Plans will be presented to the City Council for consideration later this year. 

On March 11, the City of Astoria and its parks master planning consultants from GreenWorks and Angelo 
Planning Group conducted a combined public meeting for the two to discuss different planning concepts 
for McClure and Shively Parks. The meeting took place at Shively Hall. The meetings were announced via 
the City’s Website; notices mailed to several hundred people who own property in the vicinity of the 
parks; flyers posted at various City facilities including the two parks, and meeting flyers distributed door-
to-door in the McClure Park area. About 30-35 people attended the meeting. 

The purpose of the meetings was to provide community members with the opportunity to review and 
comment on draft concepts for the two parks. Each concept included a variety of elements and 
participants were asked to note whether they liked or disliked the specific elements or had any other 
recommendations for additional amenities or objectives, or whether they suggested any refinements to 
the concepts presented. The meeting included a brief presentation of the concepts, followed by a 
question and answer session with participants. After the Q&A session, participants engaged in interactive 
exercises to state their preference for different programming elements and concepts. Following is a 
summary of the results of the meeting. 
  



25Shively park | master plan report

Hilltop 

  
0

2

4

6

8

10

Like Dislike

Hilltop

0

2

4

6

8

10

Like Dislike

Hilltop

 Concept A Concept B 

Parking Lot 

  

Trailhead 

  

ADA/ 
Access 
Ramps 

  

Playground/ 
Terrace 

  

0

2

4

6

8

10

Like Dislike

Parking Lot

0

2

4

6

8

10

Like Dislike

Parking Lot

0

2

4

6

8

10

Like Dislike

Trailhead

0

2

4

6

8

10

Like Dislike

Trailhead

0

2

4

6

8

10

Like Dislike

ADA/Access Ramps

0

2

4

6

8

10

Like Dislike

ADA/Access Ramps

0

2

4

6

8

10

Like Dislike

Playground/Terrace

0

2

4

6

8

10

Like Dislike

Playground/Terrace

Shively Park 
Preferences for specific park elements 
The following charts show participants’ preferences for specific park elements and amenities shown in the 
two concepts.  In almost all cases, the majority of participants preferred the elements illustrated in 
Concept B.  Preferences for the trailhead elements were more evenly split although more people disliked 
the Concept B trailhead in comparison to Concept A. 



26 Shively park | master plan REPORT

Project Presentation, One-on-One Comments, and Map Comments 
What kind of plantings are you suggesting in the Hilltop area?   
Response: Primarily low plants that step up in height towards the existing forested areas. 
What kind of surfacing would you use in the auxiliary parking lot?  And would you be willing to 
consider some approaches for mitigating the potential impact of headlights there shining on the 
adjacent house, e.g., gating the auxiliary lot and only using it for larger events?   
Response: We could use a permeable surface there that has a reinforced base but allows for grass 
to grow, making it look less like a paved area and more natural.  And yes I expect the city could 
look at gating the area and keeping it closed to cars much of the time and/or screening it. 
Would the ramps shown in the two Concept provide access for people in wheelchairs and what 
would the grade be?   
Response: Yes, they would meet ADA grade requirements of 5-8 percent. 
Which way would the seats in the courtyard face?   
Response: The drawings show them facing towards the parking lot, in part due to the topography 
there.  However, that is a detail that can be refined as part of a more detailed design. 
I think you should keep Shivley Park as rustic as possible.  Continue to maintain its natural, hidden 
aspect.  Don’t build the ADA ramps to the hilltop unless absolutely necessary. 
Address drug use in Shivley Park.  And get rid of the ivy and the moles. 
Do not institute an entrance fee at Shivley Park. 
Love native hedgerow. 
Replant hedgerow with original plants, not stone.  Keep historic design. 
Like extra parking in A but not separating lot from road.  I like parking lot “B” with the trailhead 
from “A.” 
No to road bump-out on upper end of loop.  If width is absolutely needed, shave out of uphill side. 
I don’t like the switchback ramp leading up to the hilltop area.  That is an attractive area.  It will be 
chopped with the ramp. 
Realignment of the loop seems expensive and un-needed. 
Please retain all big trees. 

Comment Forms 
Four people noted a preference for Option B, although one of those noted a preference “if I had 
to choose.”  One person didn’t indicate a strong preference but likes A more than B. 
ADA path in Option B provides both bathroom access for floor one and backdoor entrance on top 
floor of Shivley House. 
Concept B has a more natural flow.  Please keep signage and hardscapes to a minimum.  Let 
nature talk to us.  
Like entry of Concept A beyond stairs.  Like Concept A overflow parking, keeping play area, 
traditional ceremonial space.  Dislike in Concept A split parking, handicap access to Shivley Hall, 
taking out historic stairs to get access to upper area. 
Like in Concept B handicap access to Shivley, parking better, but needs overflow.  Dislike in 
Concept B entry area, moving play area, too much detail in front by parking lot, the curving 
portion of ramp at the upper area, widening the upper area, Shivley Terrace (dislike most of the 
hilltop). 
Lack of consideration of history of Centennial areas. 
It is not a “Nature Park.”  It is a community historic park for get-togethers with natural 
enhancement. 



27Shively park | master plan report



28 Shively park | master plan REPORT



29Shively park | master plan report



30 Shively park | master plan REPORT



31Shively park | master plan report



32 Shively park | master plan REPORT



33Shively park | master plan report



34 Shively park | master plan REPORT



35Shively park | master plan report

0’ 10’ 20’ 40’

SHIVELY PARK



36 Shively park | master plan REPORT



37Shively park | master plan report

0’ 40’ 80’ 160’

SHIVELY PARK



38 Shively park | master plan REPORT



39Shively park | master plan report

SANITARY SEWER SERVICE:  
• 6” sanitary sewer lateral located onto what is idenƟ fi ed 

as City of Astoria property on the site analysis map at the 

north east corner of the park.

• It is unclear if this sanitary sewer service is extended into 

the park property to serve Shively Hall.   If it does not 

extend into the site, then it is likely that the Hall is served 

by a sepƟ c system.  Can City staff  confi rm how the Hall is 

being served?

• It does not appear that sanitary sewer service is currently 

provided beyond Shively Hall.

• If the 6” lateral idenƟ fi ed above does extend to Shively 

Hall, it is likely that the size is adequate for increased 

levels of use if needed for the future development of the 

park.

• Given the signifi cant elevaƟ on gain from Shively Hall to 

the upper Weddings and Events area it appears that, if 

desired, sanitary sewer service could be extended to this 

upper area.  RouƟ ng of this extension would need to 

consider impacts to exisƟ ng trees.

WATER SERVICE:
• The system mapping provided shows that Shively Park is 

served from an 8” water main located in  Williamsport 

Road at the northeast corner of the park property.

• The site is served with a 1” line extending from the point 

of connecƟ on at Williamsport to a water meter located 

approximately 120’ east of Shively Hall.

• There is also a second 1” water line extending across the 

Park property serving City owned property to the West.

• It does not appear that water service is currently 

provided beyond Shively Hall.

• It is likely that if there is a desire to incorporate water 

services to other porƟ ons of the project site, especially 

the upper Wedding and Event area, that the 1” water 

service would need to be upsized.  This is due to the 

signifi cant elevaƟ on gain from the point of connecƟ on to 

the upper area and potenƟ al addiƟ onal uses.

STORM DRAINAGE:
• There does not appear to be any formal storm drainage 

faciliƟ es within the park site or directly adjacent to the 

site. 

• Surface runoff  appears to be sheet fl owing from 

the upper levels of the park in all direcƟ ons without 

signifi cant concentraƟ on of fl ows in any one locaƟ on.

• There is currently an elevaƟ on rise between the exisƟ ng 

parking lot and the City’s water reservoir located north of 

the Park.

• The exisƟ ng parking lot located at the north end of 

the site appears to be graded to fl ow into an exisƟ ng 

roadside ditch located adjacent to 16th Street.

• Any new storm water management faciliƟ es for 

improvements to the upper area of the project site will 

need to take into consideraƟ on the steep slopes.  

• The use of infi ltraƟ on for disposal of stormwater would 

likely prove to be problemaƟ c due to the steep slopes.

• Care will need to be taken to minimize concentraƟ ng 

fl ows in these areas due to concerns about controlling 

erosion.  This can be addressed through the use of fl ow 

spreaders to disperse the fl ows.

• There does appear to be adequate space near the 

exisƟ ng parking area and Shively Hall to incorporate low 

impact development water treatment faciliƟ es if desired 

to treat runoff  from added impervious areas.

• A detailed look at the exisƟ ng system in 16th and further 

to the north of the site will be needed to confi rm that 

the exisƟ ng ditch and piping are adequately sized to 

convey he anƟ cipated fl ows.

Utility Analysis



40 Shively park | master plan REPORT

Area Drain

Catch Basin30' - 8" SD

80' - 12" SD

Outfall to Ditch

Utility diagram for 
master plan



41Shively park | master plan report

ITEM

Soft Costs:
Internal Staffing/Management  (3%) $38,905

Permitting  (2%) $25,937
Design and Engineering  (20%) $259,369

$324,211

Total with Soft Costs



42 Shively park | master plan REPORT

ITEM QTY. UNIT UNIT COST EXT. COST REMARKS

Soft Costs:
Internal Staffing/Management  (3%) $15,593

Permitting  (2%) $10,395
Design and Engineering  (20%) $103,954

Soft costs

$129,942 25%

Total with Soft Costs



43Shively park | master plan report

ITEM QTY. UNIT UNIT COST EXT. COST REMARKS

Soft Costs:
Internal Staffing/Management  (3%) $15,289

Permitting  (2%) $10,193
Design and Engineering  (20%) $101,927

Soft costs

$127,409 25%

Total with Soft Costs



44 Shively park | master plan REPORT

ITEM QTY. UNIT UNIT COST EXT. COST REMARKS

Soft Costs:
Internal Staffing/Management  (3%) $8,023

Permitting  (2%) $5,349
Design and Engineering  (20%) $53,488

Soft costs

$66,860 25%



MCClure park 
master plan REPORT

ASTORIA PARKS AND RECREATION

GREENWORKS
ANGLEGO PLANNING GROUP

KPFF ENGINEERING

May 2017

McCLURE PARK | master plan report



MCCLURE park | master plan report

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
ASTORIA PARKS AND RECREATION
Angela Cosby, Parks Director

Rosemary Johnson, Parks Planner

Jonah Dart-McClean, Parks Supervisor

ASTORIA CHAMBER OF COMMERCE
ASTORIA PARKS BOARD
FRIENDS OF MCCLURE PARK

GREENWORKS
Mike Faha, Principal

Derek Sergison, Project Managerg , j g

Mike Corrente

Ben Johnson

ANGELO PLANNING GROUP
MaƩ  HasƟ e, Project Manager

Kyra Schneider, Planner

KPFF ENGINEERING
CCurt VVandderzandden, PP irinciip lal

Stuart Finney



McClure park | master plan report

MCClure park 
master plan Report

Prepared for: 

Astoria Parks and RecreaƟ on

1997 Marine Dr. 

Astoria, OR 97103

May 2017

Prepared by:

GreenWorks, P.C.

Landscape Architecture -Environmental Design 

24 NW 2nd Ave., Suite 100

Portland, Oregon 97209

1 Summary 

1 Community Engagement

3 Site Analysis

7 Master Plan

9 ImplementaƟ on

11 Appendix

contents



1MCCLURE park | master plan report

summary community Engagement

The City of Astoria and its consultants team members 

conducted community engagement acƟ viƟ es at four stages of 

the master planning process. (See appendix)

STAGE 1 ͳ STAKEHOLDER MEETINGS
Astoria Parks and RecreaƟ on hosted two Stakeholder 

meeƟ ngs to advise the groups of the scope and Ɵ me line 

of the Master Plan project, introduce them to the team 

members, and obtain comments from them concerning 

Shively and McClure.  

STAGE 2 ͳ COMMUNITY OPEN HOUSE #1 : 
SITE ANALYSIS, EDUCATION, AND ENGAGEMENT
The City of Astoria and consultant team members led the fi rst 

public open house to provide community members with the 

opportunity to make comments and recommendaƟ ons on 

how McClure Park should be maintained and/or improved. 

MeeƟ ng topics included preferred uses and acƟ viƟ es in the 

Park, maintenance of natural features, construcƟ on and/or 

maintenance of park ameniƟ es, safety consideraƟ ons, and 

access to the park. The planning team presented informaƟ on 

about condiƟ ons, opportuniƟ es, constraints, and possible 

programming ideas for the park. InteracƟ ve exercises 

provided parƟ cipants opportunity to state their preference 

for diff erent types of programming ideas and to idenƟ fy 

suggesƟ ons for acƟ viƟ es or improvements within the parks. 

Approximately 40 community members aƩ ended the public 

meeƟ ngs and the results are in the appendix of this report.

STAGE 3 ͳ COMMUNITY OPEN HOUSE #2 : 
ANALYSIS, UNDERSTANDING AND DIRECTION
The City of Astoria and consultant team members led a 

second public open house to provide community members 

with the opportunity review and comment on two draŌ  

concepts for McClure Park. Each concept included a variety 

of elements. ParƟ cipants were asked to note whether they 

The 2016-2026 Astoria Parks and RecreaƟ on Comprehensive 

Master Plan prioriƟ zed preparaƟ on of site Master Plans 

for Shively Park and McClure Park. McClure Park ranked as 

the second highest priority for site master plans with the 

community. The processes for McClure and Shively Park was 

in connecƟ on to effi  ciently create a vision for both sites and 

eff ecƟ vely capture stakehodler and community feedback. 

The Friends of McClure Park have been acƟ ve in fundraising 

to make improvements and add desired ameniƟ es. A Master 

Plan for McClure Park would ensure that new development 

is supported by the community and Parks and RecreaƟ on 

Department, and that it can be cared for and adequately 

maintained into the future.

This process was funded by the Oregon Parks and RecreaƟ on 

Department Local Government Grant Program provides 

Small Community Planning Grants to support site-specifi c 

park and outdoor recreaƟ on plans. These planning eff orts 

target a specifi c site that has been idenƟ fi ed in a system-wide 

parks and recreaƟ on plan. Site-specifi c planning projects 

include public outreach and an analysis process that leads to 

a detailed plan for full development or redevelopment a park 

or other recreaƟ onal-use site. 

The McClure Park Master Plan is a vision for the project site 

and a framework to guide the preparaƟ on of detailed design 

documents for the development of the park. The Master Plan 

was developed as a collaboraƟ on between Astoria Parks & 

RecreaƟ on, the Astoria community, the Friends of McClure 

Park, Astoria Park Board, Astoria Chamber of Commerce 

Members and the planning consultants. This document 

includes background informaƟ on and analysis of the park site 

and provides a conceptual design for the park, as a result of 

extensive research and community outreach. The process 

was conducted in stages over the course of six months in 

2017 with the intent to create a vision that refl ects the 

communiƟ es wants and needs.



2 McClure park | master plan report

liked or disliked the specifi c elements or had any other 

recommendaƟ ons for addiƟ onal ameniƟ es or whether they 

suggested any refi nements to the concepts presented. The 

meeƟ ng included a brief presentaƟ on of the concepts, a 

quesƟ on and answer session, and interacƟ ve exercises to 

state their preference for diff erent programming elements 

and concepts. Approximately 30-35 people aƩ ended the 

meeƟ ng and a summary of the results are in the appendix of 

this report.

STAGE 4 ͳ ONLINE COMMUNITY SURVEY:
VALIDATING THE DESIGN  
The City and its team have conducted an online survey 

to assess support for proposed Master Plan concepts, 

including support for the concepts overall as well as for 

specifi c programming objecƟ ves and recommended 

improvements at each park.  The City publicized the survey 

through a variety of means, including email announcements 

to community members who had aƩ ended community 

meeƟ ngs or otherwise expressed an interest in the plans; a 

Parks Department Website announcement; and informaƟ on 

provided to the Daily Astorian.  A total of 53 people 

responded to the survey. 

• An overwhelming majority of respondents support the 

overall concept for McClure Park, with 87% saying that 

they support or strongly support the concept.  About 

4% are neutral and only 8% said they do not support the 

concept. 

• A majority of people (63-84%) also support the 

programming objecƟ ves for McClure, with most of the 

remainder saying they are neutral.  Only 4-8% say they 

don’t support the overall objecƟ ves.

•  About 70% support or more also support most of the 

individual improvements proposed for McClure Park, 

while just a few elements (NW parking entrance, SE 

entrance design, and NE monument sign) receive just 

over 50% support.  Most of the people who don’t voice 

support for a parƟ cular element say they are neutral, 

with only 4-20% saying they don’t support specifi c 

elements.  

• The three most popular types of play equipment 

idenƟ fi ed for McClure Park are the rocks and rope 

climbers, log crawl and nature-based play equipment.  

While the basket swing received the fewest number 

of “top three” votes, just under half the respondents 

sƟ ll placed this in their list of top three choices, and 

the project team note a variety of advantages for this 

parƟ cular feature, including a more inclusive design; 

lower space needs, translaƟ ng to the ability to provide 

more play equipment overall; and a higher chance of 

obtaining grant money for funding.

Other notable comments included:

• Several people (less than 10% of survey respondents) 

noted concerns about the cost of improvements or 

about the City spending any money on improvements to 

these or other city parks.

• Several people expressed general appreciaƟ on to the 

City for conducƟ ng the planning eff ort and for providing 

them with mulƟ ple opportuniƟ es to parƟ cipate and 

share their thoughts.



3MCCLURE park | master plan report

HISTORY
McClure Park is the former home of McClure School, 

constructed in 1883. It was named for Col. John McClure, one 

of the early land grant owners in Astoria in the 1840’s.  The 

school conƟ nued unƟ l 1917 and was demolished in 1919. 

The .0.92 acre park has had a chainlink backstop and informal 

baseball fi eld for many years, and added a swing with saddle 

mounts in 1970’s. As late as the 1990’s there was a hillside 

slide, merry go round, picnic tables, and monkey bars. 

In 2016, Friends of McClure Park conducted fundraising 

events to fi nance a proposed 30’ hillside embankment slide 

as the centerpiece of the Park and is on track to be install in 

Summer of 2017

CONTEXT
The parks located in steeply terraced residenƟ al 

neighborhood and serves as one of the few open spaces for 

community members. One of the aƩ ributes of the Park is the 

view of the Columbia River because of its northfacing slopes. 

The space is currently used for its play area, playground 

equipment, informal baseball fi eld, and picnic table. The site 

hosts many community events, such as movies in the park, 

dog days, kickball games, and 4th of July fi reworks viewing.  

It also serves as a resƟ ng point for visitors hiking the steep 

neighborhood from the riverwalk to the Astoria Column. 

ACCESS
The main access points are located at the intersecƟ on of 

Franklin Ave. and 7th St. (northwest) and interseciton of 

Grande Ave. and 8th St. (southeast).  These two access points 

SITE ANALYSIS

are dictated by steep slopes at the adjacent roadways. A 

single vehicle may access and park in the northwest corner. 

The southeast corner is a less desireable access point for 

pedestrians due to the higher traffi  c, steep slopes and limited 

driver visibility, and lack of crosswalk.  There are no internal 

pathways for access and circulaƟ on through the site and 

therfore is the only way to walk though the site is by walking 

on the turf grass. A concrete viewing pad was installed near 

the southwest conifer trees which lacks access and use.

STRUCTURES
Stone retaining walls along the northern and eastern edges 

are in disrepair due to the sites acƟ ve landslide (see geologic 

report in appendix). The exisƟ ng backstop is in stable 

condiƟ on and serves its purpose at the sport fi eld.  The 

backstop also is a barrier between the fl at fi eld and steep 

embankment to the north and northeast. There is an exisƟ ng 

swing set with plasƟ c edging in the play area which should be 

replaced. 



4 McClure park | master plan report

1

2

3

4

5

66

McCLURE PARK

LEGEND - Total Area: 0.92 Acres

KEY NOTES

1

2

3

4

5

6



5MCCLURE park | master plan report

SITE ANALYSIS (continued)

VEGETATION
Mature trees are scaƩ ered along the perimeter of the site 

provide shade and a sense of place and should be preserved. 

These trees are located in, or along slopes and aid in 

bank stabilizaƟ on. Patches of non-naƟ ve ivy are along the 

southeast corner, and overgrowing the stone retaining walls 

along the north and east edges. The remaining site is turf 

grass with ground cover along the slopes.

TOPOGRAPHY & DRAINAGE
The topography of the site is steep slopes to the northeast. 

Steep banks slope down at 50% to an open level lawn and 

then drops down again at 50% into the north and east 

streets. The adjacent street's slopes range from 9%-23%. 

The design avoids impacts to slopes and exisƟ ng walls which 

are moving as part of a large and deer acƟ ve landslide. (see 

geologic report in appendix).

Surface runoff  appears to be sheet fl owing from the park to 

the northeast corner of the site. The use of infi ltraƟ on for 

disposal of stormwater would likely prove to be problemaƟ c 

due to the steep slopes and the exisƟ ng slide located at the 

site. All new surfaces should catch and convey runoff  to the 

storm system as opposed to infi ltraƟ ng to not contribute to 

the acƟ ve landslide condiƟ on. 

UTILITIES ΈALSO SEE APPENDIXΉ
A power source was recently installed for community events 

such as movies in the park. It's located on on the east side 

along the backstop. 



6 McClure park | master plan report

The site does not appear to be any sanitary sewer lines on 

the site.  There are sanitary sewer mains located in both 7th 

and 8th Streets adjacent to the site, and there appears to be 

a lateral extending from to the site at the northwest corner.  

Given that the service later on 8th is located near the lowest 

elevaƟ ons of the site, it appears that extending sanitary 

sewer services into the site is feasible if desired.

The site does not appear to have water lines on the site and 

no indicaƟ on of water service stubs. Water mains are located 

in both Franklin Ave. and 8th Street adjacent to the site. 

There is a fi re hydrant located at the southeast corner of the 

site.  

There does not appear to be any formal storm drainage 

faciliƟ es within the park site.  Drainage faciliƟ es are located 

at the intersecƟ on of Franklin and 7th connecƟ ng into a 

combined sanitary sewer system.  There is a 12” storm 

drainage main indicated in 8th Street adjacent to the project 

site.   Given the site topography the exisƟ ng system located 

in 8th Street should be adequate to accommodate fl ow from 

new drainage faciliƟ es at the site.

OPPORTUNITIES AND CONSTRAINTS
Expansive views, fl exible open lawn, and the community's 

desire for play are major opportuniƟ es for the site. The 

steep slopes and acƟ ve landslide condiƟ on limit the areas for 

improvement.  LimiƟ ng grading and not impacƟ ng exisƟ ng 

slopes is a constraint. The northeast slopes are a safety 

concern for visitors and balls going into the roadway. Because 

of this, a barrier should remain (the exisƟ ng backstop serves 

this purpose).

The embankment slide will draw more visitors and increase 

need for access improvements, addiƟ onal play areas, and 

gathering spaces. CreaƟ ng a safe, accessible path which 

links both ends of the park is high a priority. Slopes along 

the roadways and at access points present challenges for 

accessible improvements and safety. 



7MCCLURE park | master plan report

NW PARKING ENTRANCE
Level asphalt event drop off  

and  parking area for 1-2 vehicles 

connecƟ ng to ADA path. Include park 

entry and rules sign.

TREE PRESERVATION 
Preserve exisƟ ng Platanus tree and 

retaining walls along Franklin Ave. 

The exiƟ ng walls could use minimal 

aestheƟ c repairs.  Structural repair 

work is expensive and will unlikely to 

correct the issues due to the shiŌ ing 

earth deep below grade. Refer to the 

Geotechnical memo in the appendix.

GATHERING AREA
Picnic shelter with 3 picnic tables

ACCESSIBLE PATHWAY
Provide accessible path from drop 

off  parking space to southeast corner 

of the site. Use a fl exible surface 

material such as asphalt or rubber. 

The pathway will require low seat 

walls and handrails when slopes 

exceeding 5%. 

VIEWING PLATFORMS
Fixed seaƟ ng plaƞ orms can host 

1-3 people, are built into the slope, 

and oriented toward Columbia River 

views.  

ACCESSIBLE PLAYGROUND
Play area includes a ramp entry, 

inclusive group play basket swing, 

and climbing and balancing 

components for range of challenges 

for diverse ages and abiliƟ es. 

Suggested components are rocks and 

ropes climber and low nature based 

steppers. Low equipment height is 

considered to preserve views.

FLEXIBLE OPEN LAWN
Maintain open lawn for community 

events. A 100' distance from the backstop 

home plate to pathways should be 

maintain for informal fi eld sports. 

EXISTING BACKSTOP
Retain exisƟ ng backstop as safety 

separator from the steep slopes, and to 

facilitate informal fi eld sports. Reduce 

height of north wing to open views while 

maintaining safety. 

SE ENTRANCE
Protected landing at 8th St. crossing 

includes a low stone wall with park sign, 

interpreƟ ve sign, and low naƟ ve planƟ ngs 

which are easy to maintain. 

master plan

1

3

4

2

5

7

6

8

10

11

12

9

SIDEWALK ALONG GRAND AVE.
Concrete walkway with curb and  

addiƟ onal parallel parking between 7th 

and 8th St. AddiƟ onal seaƟ ng provided 

for viewing and playground supervision 

at the top of the slide. Include bollards 

as protecƟ ve barriers at seaƟ ng and play 

areas.

FRIENDS OF MCCLURE PARK 
EMBANKMENT SLIDE
Approximate locaƟ on of embankment 

slide & steps. PlanƟ ngs and steps should 

not exceedheight of side rails of slide 

per CPSC guidlines. Provide bench and 

safety surface at top of slide loading area. 

Include a 42” height containment fence 

to separate children from vehicles in the 

roadway.

NE  MONUMENT SIGN
McClure Park sign at visible corner

VIEW A

As set of key programming goals were idenƟ fi ed throughout the Community Engagement process. In the near future, the 

Friends of McClure Embankment Slide will be constructed and the Master Plan aims to provide access to this feature and 

improve accessibility through the site.  Other idenƟ fi ed goals include: Improving safety at Grand and 8th St. crossing; preserve 

trees and stone walls by minimizing impacts to slopes; maintain views of the Columbia River; and providing addiƟ onal seaƟ ng 

and picnicking areas throughout the park. The Mater Plan also preserves the large informal lawn space for community events, 

informal sports games, and serve as a level open green space for the neighborhood.



8 McClure park | master plan report

0’ 5’ 10’ 20’

1

3

4

65

11
9

7

10

2

8

VIEW A

12



9MCCLURE park | master plan report

IMPLementation

ImplementaƟ on of the Master Plan recommendaƟ ons would 

be completed as funding is acquired through mulƟ ple sources 

such as grants, donaƟ ons, City budget, etc.  The possibility 

of a parks maintenance fee, while potenƟ ally challenging 

to adopt, would provide the city with a lot of value in 

maintenance and redevelopment of exisƟ ng parks such as 

Shively Park. 

Partnerships 
Partnerships between two separate agencies, such as 

two government enƟ Ɵ es, a non-profi t and a government 

department, or a private business and a government 

agency for joint development or operaƟ on allow a city to  

share the risk, operaƟ onal costs, responsibiliƟ es, and asset 

management, uƟ lizing the strengths of each partner.

Friends and Volunteer Programs 
This group can raise money for a single purpose, such as the 

embankment slide, or a park facility/program that will benefi t 

a parƟ cular special interest populaƟ on or the community as 

a whole. 

Volunteers assist the community in providing a product or 

service, donaƟ ng Ɵ me on an hourly basis. This reduces the 

City’s cost in providing the service, plus it builds advocacy for 

the system. To best manage a volunteer program, an agency 

typically dedicates a staff  member to oversee it. For example, 

Lincoln City employs a staff  person dedicated to recruiƟ ng 

and organizing volunteers to help maintain its open spaces. 

Adopt-a-Park/Adopt-a-Trail Programs involve residents, 

businesses, and/or organizaƟ ons in improving and 

maintaining parks and related faciliƟ es, in the community in 

which they live. 

GiŌ  Catalogs 
GiŌ  catalogs let the community know the city’s needs on a 

yearly basis. Community members purchase items from the 

giŌ  catalog and donate them to the City. 

Grants 
Grants can supplement or match city funds for programs, 

planning, design, seed money, and construcƟ on. Grants are 

best for funding specifi c ventures as ciƟ es cannot depend on 

them as a conƟ nuous source of funding.  Grants fall into the 

following categories:

General Purpose or OperaƟ ng Grants 
 Giving a city an operaƟ ng grant for the general operaƟ ng 

expenses indicates  the fund provider supports the City’s 

overall mission and trusts that the city  will be put the money 

to good use. 

Program or Support Grants 
A program or support grant typically is earmarked for a 

specifi c or connected set of acƟ viƟ es that have a beginning 

and an end, specifi c objecƟ ves, and pre-determined costs. 

Some of the most common types of program or support 

grants include:

  Planning Grants that support research and 

development for major new programs , such as 

invesƟ gaƟ ng the needs of consƟ tuents, or consulƟ ng 

with experts in the fi eld. 

  FaciliƟ es and Equipment Grants that help a city buy 

long-lasƟ ng physical assets, such as a building that will 

beƩ er serve its clients. Fund providers considering 

these requests will need to know the city’s fi nancial 

and program plans for the next several years in 

addiƟ on to the applicant’s current acƟ viƟ es and 

fi nancial health to ensure long term viability and good 

management. 

  Matching Grants that require the City to contribute an 

amount from other sources. Ability to raise matching 

funds is a sign of viability of an organizaƟ on or 

program. 

Program-Related Investments (PRIs) 
In addiƟ on to grants, the Internal Revenue Service allows 

foundaƟ ons to make Program-Related Investments (PRIs) 

to non-profi ts for projects that would be eligible for grant 

support, such as building projects. These loans usually charge 

low or zero interest and must be paid back. This may be an 

opportunity for a 501(c)(3) “Friends of Group.”

Fund-raising 
Many ciƟ es and park districts have fund-raisers on an annual 

basis to cover specifi c programs and capital projects. CiƟ es 

sell pavers in parks, hold fund-raising events, and conduct 

similar acƟ viƟ es to encourage community members to 

donate money. 

Bond Referendum 



10 McClure park | master plan report

CiƟ es can use bonds to fund capital needs, renovaƟ ons, and 

new faciliƟ es to meet the needs and demands of residents. 

A bond is a wriƩ en promise to payback a specifi ed sum of 

money at a specifi ed future date, at a specifi ed interest rate.  

Types of bonds include:

  General ObligaƟ on Bonds issued with the approval of 

the electorate for capital improvements and general 

public improvements. 



11MCCLURE park | master plan report

this page is 
intentionally left
blank



12 McClure park | master plan report

13 Stake Holder MeeƟ ng Notes

18 Open House #1 MeeƟ ng Notes

21 Open House #2 MeeƟ ng Notes

25 Online Survey Summary

33 Preliminary Design OpƟ ons

35 Geological Memorandum

45 ExisƟ ng UƟ lity Review

47 EsƟ mate of Probable Cost

contents

APPENDIX

McCLure park 
master plan Report



13MCCLURE park | master plan report

G:\Projects\116261_Shively_McClure_Parks_MP\01_Project_Management\03_Meeting_Notes\2017_02_09_Kick-off_Notes\2-9-17 
stakeholder meeting notes_revMH.docx 



14 McClure park | master plan report

G:\Projects\116261_Shively_McClure_Parks_MP\01_Project_Management\03_Meeting_Notes\2017_02_09_Kick-off_Notes\2-9-17 
stakeholder meeting notes_revMH.docx 



15MCCLURE park | master plan report

G:\Projects\116261_Shively_McClure_Parks_MP\01_Project_Management\03_Meeting_Notes\2017_02_09_Kick-off_Notes\2-9-17 
stakeholder meeting notes_revMH.docx 



16 McClure park | master plan report

G:\Projects\116261_Shively_McClure_Parks_MP\01_Project_Management\03_Meeting_Notes\2017_02_09_Kick-off_Notes\2-9-17 
stakeholder meeting notes_revMH.docx 



17MCCLURE park | master plan report

G:\Projects\116261_Shively_McClure_Parks_MP\01_Project_Management\03_Meeting_Notes\2017_02_09_Kick-off_Notes\2-9-17 
stakeholder meeting notes_revMH.docx 



18 McClure park | master plan report

 

1 
Open House #1 Meeting Summary 

SSHHIVELY  PPAARK  AAND MMCCCCLLURE  PPAARK  MMAASTER  PPLLAN  
Open House #1 Meeting Summary 

March 7, 2017 
Shively Hall 

 
Staff Present: Angela Cosby, Parks Director; Jonah Dart-McClean, Parks Supervisor; Rosemary Johnson, 
Planning Consultant/Project Manager 
 
Consultants Present: Mike Faha, GreenWorks; Derek Sergison, GreenWorks; Matt Hastie, Angelo Planning 
Group 
 
The City of Astoria, with assistance from a consulting team led by GreenWorks, is preparing conceptual 
Master Plans for future improvements at McClure and Shively Parks. The master planning process is being 
funded by a planning grant from the Oregon Department of Parks and Recreation. As part of this effort, 
the City and its team is conducting community meetings to solicit feedback on planning priorities and 
concepts. A first set of meetings focused on conditions, opportunities, constraints, and priorities for the 
two parks. At a second round of public meetings, tentatively planned for April 11, the planning team will 
present optional Plans for comment and consideration. Final draft Master Plans will be presented to the 
City Council for consideration later this year. 

On March 7, the City of Astoria and its parks master planning consultants from GreenWorks and Angelo 
Planning Group conducted two public meetings to discuss master planning priorities for McClure and 
Shively Parks. The meetings took place at Shively Hall. The meetings were announced via the City’s 
Website; notices mailed to several hundred people who own property in the vicinity of the parks; flyers 
posted at various City facilities including the two parks, and meeting flyers distributed door-to-door in the 
McClure Park area. The first meeting (4:30 - 6 pm) was devoted to presentations and discussions about 
McClure Park; the second meeting (6:30-8 pm) focused on Shively Park. About 40 people attended the 
two meetings in total. 

The purpose of the meetings was to provide community members with the opportunity to make 
comments and recommendations on how these two Parks should be maintained and/or improved in the 
future. Meeting topics included preferred uses and activities with the Parks, maintenance of natural 
features, construction and/or maintenance of Park amenities, safety considerations, and access to the 
Parks. In each meeting, the planning team presented information about conditions, opportunities, 
constraints, and possible programming ideas for the park, followed by a question and answer session with 
participants. After the Q&A session, participants engaged in two interactive exercises to state their 
preference for different types of programming ideas and to identify suggestions for activities or 
improvements within the parks. Following is a summary of the results of the meeting. 
  



19MCCLURE park | master plan report

 

2 
Open House #1 Meeting Summary 

 

McClure Park 
Project Presentation, One-on-One Comments, and Map Comments 
Comments and questions during and after the presentation included the following: 

The project is being funded primarily through grants and the money for the project cannot be 
used for construction of facilities. A conceptual plan is needed prior to detailed design or 
construction of new park facilities. 
Whether or not a use permit is needed depends upon the activity. Small-scale activities by 
individuals or small groups don’t require a use permit. However, a permit from the Parks & 
Recreation Department is needed for use of the entire park, or for a large group event. 
The lack of parking causes an ADA accessibility issue, especially at the north entrance where there 
are only 1-2 parking spaces. Possibly add temporary/loading ADA parking. 
During Movies in the Park, about 30 vehicles park around the site in the adjacent neighborhood. 
Add welcome and wayfinding signage at the northwest entrance. 
Add park name sign on NE corner at intersection or along east edge to notify visiting walkers on 
the way to the Astoria column. 
All that needs to be done is installation of the slide, and regular park maintenance. Keep it open, 
green, and natural. 
Members of Friends of McClure Park bring their own barbeque and tent to the park for events.  
Having a shelter would be nice. However, wind could be an issue.  More picnic tables are needed. 
There are safety issues in regards to conflicts with activities such as baseball and Frisbee. The 
backstop should be kept for safety reasons. 
Maintain a flexible open area. 
Don’t block the view with large structures. Add benches at viewpoints. 
Vegetation should be maintained if it helps reinforce the hillside. Maintain native landscaping in 
the northwest corner. 
Add pollinator plantings, food beds, and flowers. 
Leave the stairs and climbing wall natural. 
Add more/better swings, more like the ones at Shively Park. The seats on the swing now are too 
small and only allow one child and one young child to swing at a time. Also, consider moving 
swings further north, and adding a merry-go-round at the northern end of the park. 
Add historical signage showing history of McClure School and McClure himself, located in the park 
somewhere out of the way. 
Keep “neighborhood park” feel. 
Need improvements in lawn care. 
Is the climbing wall a liability with the rain? 
Put the climbing wall next to the slide so that kids can congregate in one area. 

Comment Forms 
I’d love to see a design that enhances current features (views, slopes), has native landscaping, a 
natural playground, and makes it “Astoria’s Outdoor Living Room.” 

Dot Exercise (listed in order of priority) 
Nature Based Play: 14 
Scenic Views: 9 
Embankment Play: 8 



20 McClure park | master plan report

 

Flexible Lawn – Kickball: 6 
Flexible Lawn – Dog Agility: 6 
Embankment Slide – Friends of McClure Park: 6 
Movies in the Park: 3 
Picnic – Shelter: 3 
ADA Improvements: 2 
Picnic – BBQ: 2 
McClure Interpretive Sign or Monument: 2 
Visitor Wayfinding: 1 
Seating: 1 
Fence: 0 



21MCCLURE park | master plan report

 

1 
Open House #2 Meeting Summary 

SSHHIVELY  PPAARK  AAND MMCCCCLLURE  PPAARK  MMAASTER  PPLLAN  
Open House #2 Meeting Summary 

April 11, 2017 
Shively Hall 

 
Staff Present: Angela Cosby, Parks Director; Jonah Dart-McClean, Parks Supervisor; Rosemary Johnson, 
Planning Consultant/Project Manager 
 
Consultants Present: Derek Sergison, GreenWorks; Matt Hastie, Angelo Planning Group 
 
The City of Astoria, with assistance from a consulting team led by GreenWorks, is preparing conceptual 
Master Plans for future improvements at McClure and Shively Parks. The master planning process is being 
funded by a planning grant from the Oregon Department of Parks and Recreation. As part of this effort, 
the City and its team are conducting community meetings to solicit feedback on planning priorities and 
concepts. A first set of meetings, conducted on March 7, 2017, focused on conditions, opportunities, 
constraints, and priorities for the two parks. At a second round of public meetings on April 11, the 
planning team presented two concepts for each Park for comment and consideration. Final draft Master 
Plans will be presented to the City Council for consideration later this year. 

On March 11, the City of Astoria and its parks master planning consultants from GreenWorks and Angelo 
Planning Group conducted a combined public meeting for the two to discuss different planning concepts 
for McClure and Shively Parks. The meeting took place at Shively Hall. The meetings were announced via 
the City’s Website; notices mailed to several hundred people who own property in the vicinity of the 
parks; flyers posted at various City facilities including the two parks, and meeting flyers distributed door-
to-door in the McClure Park area. About 30-35 people attended the meeting. 

The purpose of the meetings was to provide community members with the opportunity to review and 
comment on draft concepts for the two parks. Each concept included a variety of elements and 
participants were asked to note whether they liked or disliked the specific elements or had any other 
recommendations for additional amenities or objectives, or whether they suggested any refinements to 
the concepts presented. The meeting included a brief presentation of the concepts, followed by a 
question and answer session with participants. After the Q&A session, participants engaged in interactive 
exercises to state their preference for different programming elements and concepts. Following is a 
summary of the results of the meeting. 
  



22 McClure park | master plan report

 

2 
Open House #2 Meeting Summary 

 

McClure Park 
Preferences for specific park elements 
The following charts show participants’ preferences for specific park elements and amenities shown in the 
two concepts.  In all cases, the majority of participants preferred the elements illustrated in Concept B. 
 

 Concept A Concept B 

Picnic Area 

  

Playground 

  

Seating/ 
Views 

  
 
Project Presentation, One-on-One Comments, and Map Comments 
Comments and questions during and after the presentation included the following: 

There should be plenty of space or separation between the bottom of the slide and the play area 
for safety. 

0

2

4

6

8

10

Like Dislike

Picnic area

0

2

4

6

8

10

Like Dislike

Picnic area

0

2

4

6

8

10

Like Dislike

Playground

0

2

4

6

8

10

Like Dislike

Playground

0

2

4

6

8

10

Like Dislike

Seating/Views

0

2

4

6

8

10

Like Dislike

Seating/Views



23MCCLURE park | master plan report

 

3 
Open House #2 Meeting Summary 

Would the swing set be a two-seater or a four-seater?   
Response: A four-seater is shown in Concept A.  Concept B includes multiple swing types on 
separate support structures but all of that is flexible. 
I don’t see too many bright colors which is good but what materials are you considering for the 
play equipment?  Would you use wood.   
Response: We could use wood but we would not recommend it for this climate due to maintenance 
and longevity reasons.  We would suggest steel and your color choices would be almost endless, 
including subdued or more natural colors. 
Are you planning to raise the level of the grade of the picnic area?  The side of the park has 
significantly subsided and will continue to do so if we don’t shore it up.   
Response: Our understanding is that the movement of the slope is occurring gradually and at a 
deep level.  Stabilization would need to occur at a significant depth and would be very expensive so 
we are not suggesting that at this time although it could be done if the resources are available.  
Improving the drainage in the park will also help address that to some degree. 
What kind of surface material are you suggesting in the play areas – wood chips or something 
else?  The wood chips tend to get wet and need to be almost constantly replenished.  And how 
deep would that need to be?   
Response: We haven’t suggested a specific material to this point.  That is more of a design detail.  
However, you could use either wood chips, rubber/synthetic chips or a molded rubber surface.  
Recent studies have shown that the molded rubber surfaces can be more prone to causing injuries 
like sprains.  The depth of the surface is usually 12-18 inches for chips and depends on the potential 
height someone could fall and the need to prevent head or neck injuries.  The higher the height of 
the play equipment, the deeper the material. 
Even though neither of these parks are being suggested as dog park locations, both of them are 
used that way informally now. 
You should clarify that the concrete pad and bench project was actually a seniors project and not a 
boy scout project.  And the city actually installed the pad. 
What kind of surfacing material needs to be used on pathways in the park to ensure that they are 
ADA accessible? 
Don’t let the benches at the top of the hill block kids from sliding down the hills. 
Would the location of the movies in the park change under either alternative?   
Response: No, that would not need to change unless the organizers wanted to do something 
different. 
Don’t locate a picnic bench between the bottom of the slide and the playground.  
Not too cluttered with stuff (Concept A playground). 
No picnic table near the slide (Concept A picnic area). (2 comments) 
Climbing wall not necessary/don’t like it (Concept A playground). (2 comments) 
Too much stuff (Concept B playground). 
Playground is too close to slide (Concept B playground). 
Like additional parking – lined please. 
Remove ivy and add native landscaping at corner of 8th and Grand. 
Love the embankment play zone on the west side. 
Would love extra McClure Park sign at 8th and Franklin. 



24 McClure park | master plan report

 

Area where already ponds needs to be separated from the playground. 
Like the idea of a stepped “backstop” that’s not too high. 
Shelter area ground surface that’s good for yoga. 

Comment Forms 
Three (3) people noted a preference for Concept B for McClure Park.  Additional comments 
included the following. 
Like sheltered picnic area, more play area. 
The shelter is a good concept.  Separate bottom of slide from play area. 

Precedent photos 
Several participants noted support for certain amenities by placing green dots on the concept images 
board, noting the following support: 

Log climber – 1  
Embankment slide – 2  
Log climber – 1  
Ropewalk/balance – 2  
Shelter – 2  
Interpretive sign – 2  

Rocks and ropes – 1  
Basket swings – 3  
Embankment play – 1  
Steppers – 1  
Viewpoint Seating – 1 (dislike) 
Seat walls – 3  

 

     



25MCCLURE park | master plan report



26 McClure park | master plan report



27MCCLURE park | master plan report



28 McClure park | master plan report



29MCCLURE park | master plan report



30 McClure park | master plan report



31MCCLURE park | master plan report



32 McClure park | master plan report



33MCCLURE park | master plan report

McCLURE PARK

0’ 5’ 10’ 20’



34 McClure park | master plan report

McCLURE PARK

0’ 5’ 10’ 20’

0’ 10’ 20’ 40’



35MCCLURE park | master plan report



36 McClure park | master plan report

Horning Geosciences    808 26th Avenue, Seaside, Oregon 97138                                     503-738-3738

Friends of McClure Park/ Astoria/Clatsop Co. Page 2 November 2, 2016 

Properties for undisturbed native ML-CL mineral soils*

*- extracted, in part, from Table 1806.2- Presumptive Load Bearing Values- of the 2010 Oregon Structural Specialty Code 

Unrestrained

Restrained

Expires: 7/1/17 



37MCCLURE park | master plan report

Horning Geosciences    808 26th Avenue, Seaside, Oregon 97138                                     503-738-3738

Friends of McClure Park/ Astoria/Clatsop Co. Page 3 November 2, 2016 



38 McClure park | master plan report

Horning Geosciences    808 26th Avenue, Seaside, Oregon 97138                                     503-738-3738

Friends of McClure Park/ Astoria/Clatsop Co. Page 4 November 2, 2016 



39MCCLURE park | master plan report

Horning Geosciences    808 26th Avenue, Seaside, Oregon 97138                                     503-738-3738

Friends of McClure Park/ Astoria/Clatsop Co. Page 5 November 2, 2016 



40 McClure park | master plan report

Horning Geosciences    808 26th Avenue, Seaside, Oregon 97138                                     503-738-3738

Friends of McClure Park/ Astoria/Clatsop Co. Page 6 November 2, 2016 



41MCCLURE park | master plan report

Horning Geosciences    808 26th Avenue, Seaside, Oregon 97138                                     503-738-3738

Friends of McClure Park/ Astoria/Clatsop Co. Page 7 November 2, 2016 



42 McClure park | master plan report

Horning Geosciences    808 26th Avenue, Seaside, Oregon 97138                                     503-738-3738

Friends of McClure Park/ Astoria/Clatsop Co. Page 8 November 2, 2016 



43MCCLURE park | master plan report

Horning Geosciences    808 26th Avenue, Seaside, Oregon 97138                                     503-738-3738

Friends of McClure Park/ Astoria/Clatsop Co. Page 9 November 2, 2016 

that the lower part of 
the slide may shift northeastward incrementally with respect to the top of the children’s slide



44 McClure park | master plan report

Horning Geosciences    808 26th Avenue, Seaside, Oregon 97138                                     503-738-3738



45MCCLURE park | master plan report

SANITARY SEWER SERVICE:  
There does not appear to be any exisƟ ng faciliƟ es with 

sanitary sewer hookups on the site.

Based on the provided system map it appears that there are 

sanitary sewer mains located in both 7th and 8th Streets 

adjacent to the site.

The size of the main located in 7th is not noted in the 

mapping provided.  There does appear to be a lateral 

extending from this main to the site at the northwest corner.

There appears to be two sanitary sewer mains located in 

8th.  The fi rst is noted as a 10” C.I. drain that appears to be 

abandoned adjacent to the site.  The second is noted as a 12” 

SS installed in 2013.  This system appears to include fl exible 

fi ƫ  ngs which were likely installed to address the slide that 

was noted at the project site.  There is a 6” service lateral 

from this main located at the northeast corner of the site.

Given that the service later on 8th is located near the lowest 

elevaƟ ons of the site, it appears that extending sanitary 

sewer services into the site is feasible if desired.

WATER SERVICE:
There does not appear to be exisƟ ng faciliƟ es with water 

service hookups on the site.

Based on the provided system map it appears that there are 

water mains located in both Franklin Ave. and 8th Street 

adjacent to the site.

The size of the main located in Franklin is noted as a 6” main.

The system located in 8th Street is noted as a 10” main.

There is a fi re hydrant located at the southeast corner of the 

site.

The system maps do not include any indicaƟ on of water 

service being currently provided to the project site.

IncorporaƟ ng water service to the site appears to be feasible 

and would likely be easy to achieve.

STORM DRAINAGE:
There does not appear to be any formal storm drainage 

faciliƟ es within the park site .

The system map provided shows drainage faciliƟ es at the 

intersecƟ on of Franklin and 7th connecƟ ng into what is 

shown as a sanitary sewer system.

There is a 12” storm drainage main indicated in 8th Street 

adjacent to the project site.

Currently surface runoff  appears to be sheet fl owing from the 

park generally to the northeast corner of the site.

The use of infi ltraƟ on for disposal of stormwater would likely 

prove to be problemaƟ c due to the steep slopes and the 

exisƟ ng slide located at the site.

Given the site topography the exisƟ ng system located in 8th 

Street should be adequate to accommodate any desired 

drainage faciliƟ es at the site.

Utility diagram for 
master plan



46 McClure park | master plan report

drainage diagram

The sketch below is a diagram of subdrain piping for the improvements. AddiƟ onal survey informaƟ on would be required 

for a stormwater report.



47MCCLURE park | master plan report

ITEM QTY. UNIT UNIT COST EXT. COST REMARKS

Soft Costs:
Internal Staffing/Management  (3%) $15,336

Permitting  (2%) $10,224
Design and Engineering  (20%) $102,237

Soft costs

$127,797 25%

Total with Soft Costs


















	Agenda ACC 6-5-2017
	Agenda Memo 6-5-2017
	6a ACC May 1 2017 Final
	6b ACC WS May 4 2017 Final
	6b ACC WS May 10 2017 Final
	6c1 APB April 26 2017 Final
	6c2 ALB April 25 2017 Final
	6c3 HLC 2-21-17
	6c4 3-21-17HLCMIN_FINAL
	6c5 APC 2-28-17
	6c6 4-25-17 APC_Final_Minutes
	6d Res Transfer Funds within 17th Street
	7a Res Adopt Astoria Budget
	7b Res to Elect to Receive State Shared Rev
	7c Res to Adopt Water and Sewer
	7d Res Vacate Alley at 3115 Harrison
	7e Res Establish rules, regs, rates solid waste
	7f Implementing Parks and Rec Fee
	7g Parks and Rec Fee Schedule 
	7h Accept Shively McClure Master Plan
	7h1 Online Survey Summary
	7h2 Shively_MP_Report
	7h3 Shively_MP_Report_Appendix
	7h4 McClure_MP_Report
	7h5 McClure_MP_Report_Appendix
	7i FOMP Agreement



